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On the verge of completing 70 years, 
since starting its first business in 
Brazil, Ultrapar Participações has 
been well-known for its consistent 
growth and solid financial situation. 
This position has been achieved 
through constant innovation 
in technology and services, 
supported by the talent of its 
people, precise cost control and the 
constant quest for profitability. 

Ultrapar is one of Brazil’s largest 
economic groups and it is in the 
process of internationalizing its 
business – having started three 
years ago with an acquisition 
in Mexico. The company has a 
leadership position in each of 
segments in which it operates, 
through its three subsidiaries: 
Ultragaz, Oxiteno and Ultracargo.

Ultragaz, Ultrapar’s oldest business, 
is the leader in the Brazilian LPG 
(liquefied petroleum gas) market, 
with a market share of 24%, and the 
sixth largest independent distributor 
in the world. It serves more than 10.5 
million homes and approximately 
30,000 industrial and commercial 
customers in the South, Southeast, 
Northeast and Central West of Brazil. 

Oxiteno is Mercosur’s sole producer 
of ethylene oxide and its main 
derivatives, with a strategic focus 
on the production of specialty 
chemicals. Its products are used 
in the many different industries, 
such as textiles, paints, cosmetics, 
detergents, packaging and 

agrochemicals, among others. With 
its modern and well-equipped 
laboratories, it develops products 
specially designed for its customers, 
a key factor which helps to set the 
company apart from its competitors. 
The relationship that the company 
enjoys with Brazil’s best-known 
universities, as well as both national 
and international research centers, 
together with a team of world class 
researchers and specialists in the 
area of tensoactives, all strengthen 
its leadership in this field.

Ultracargo provides outstanding 
integrated logistics services, with 
the transport, storage, distribution 
and handling of chemical 
products and fuels in Brazil. It has 
multimodal and terminal operations 
strategically positioned at Brazil’s 
main petrochemical complexes 
– Camaçari (BA) and Paulínia (SP), 
as well as at Brazil’s main ports, 
such as Santos (SP), Suape (PE) 
and Aratu (BA). One of its main 
attributes is its technological 
innovation, which allows the 
company to develop new formats 
for logistic operations and processes, 
including in-house operations.

In terms of management tools, the 
company uses the Economic Value 
Added (EVA®) methodology in all 
its businesses, while applying the 
Balanced Scorecard (BSC) to measure 
fulfillment not only of the goals 
established for levels of profitability, 
cash flow and financial strength, 
but also fulfillment of the strategies 

focused on performance excellence 
and technological improvement 
in its products and processes.

The three businesses employ almost 
7,000 people and participate actively 
in the communities in which they 
operate. Several social programs 
provide the basis for one of Ultrapar’s 
central commitments – the 
undertaking to grow in a responsible 
and sustainable manner. Certification 
in regard to the environment and 
the quality of services provided, 
concern for the health and 
development of employees, as well 
as the requirement for suppliers 
to meet similar standards, all 
demonstrate company’s responsible 
attitude in its businesses.

The company’s philosophy of 
transparency is also reflected in 
its dealings with the stock market. 
With shares listed on the São 
Paulo Stock Exchange (Bovespa) 
and the New York Stock Exchange 
(NYSE) since 1999, Ultrapar was 
Brazil’s first company to grant tag 
along rights to all its shareholders 
in 2000, one year before the new 
Brazilian Corporate Law came into 
force. Most members of its Board 
of Directors are independent, while 
the company complies with the 
requirements of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act, with a 5-member Fiscal 
Council, that also performs the 
duties of the Audit Committee.

Profile
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From past to future

1937 to 1960  Foundation of Ultragaz and LPG business expansion – by the end of this period Ultragaz’s client base reaches 1 million 
consumers.

1960 to 1970 Business diversification – expansion to chemicals and petrochemicals, fertilizers, transport and storage, engineering and 
agribusiness segments, among others. Incorporation of Oxiteno and Ultracargo.

1970 to 1995 Refocus on businesses in which the company had the strongest expertise (LPG distribution, chemicals and specialized 
logistics), with the divestment of other businesses.

1995 to 2005 Expansion of activities in LPG distribution, chemicals and specialized logistics, through organic growth and acquisitions.
Broadening the scope of corporate governance concepts by going public, simplifying its corporate structure and 
increasing minority shareholders’ rights.
Beginning of the company’s internationalization process.
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Geographical presence

Oxiteno – position in the petrochemical chain...
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Planned future



A company which has been in existence for almost 
70 years could only have been set up with a vision 
for the long term. And so Ultrapar has grown, always 
in tune with different economic environments 
and committed to the country’s development. 

In each project, the company stamps its mark with 
technological and customer service innovations, 
disciplined capital allocation and respect for people 
and the environment, principles employed today 
which ensure the conquests of the future.

Solidity, security, effi ciency and quality are refl ected 
in the synergy with customers and in Ultrapar’s 
creative profi le, which is focused on achieving 
its strategic plans, thus gaining new ground and 
consolidating its leading position in the marketplace. 
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Message from the 

Executive Offi cers

Last year represented a test of the 
resilience and solidness of Ultrapar 
and its subsidiaries. The operating 
environment was challenging to all 
our subsidiaries, which had to live with 
the increase in oil prices, the weaker 
demand in Brazil, the appreciation in 
the Real, and the decline in the price 
of petrochemical commodities.

We reported R$ 299 million in net 
earnings, 28% below the net earnings 
achieved in 2004, but 22% above 
the net earnings posted in 2003, 
a signifi cant result in light of the 
challenging operating environment. 
At the same time, the strong cash 
fl ow in the year led to the distribution 
of R$ 157 million in dividends for 
the year 2005, representing a 6% 
yield on Ultrapar’s closing share 
price at the end of the year.

Although we were pleased with the 
company’s ability to weather such a 
severe test and manage to keep results 
within historical levels, this situation 
is not what we plan for the future.

This diffi cult operating environment 
strengthened Ultrapar’s resolve to 
pursue the strategy of achieving 
growth through increased scale, the 
use of outstanding technology and 
focus on optimizing expenditure. 
We are reinforcing our efforts to 
capture more value from the sales 
of our products and services, while 
at the same time reducing costs and 
increasing the company’s profi tability.

During the year, we have prepared 
ourselves fi nancially for the expansion 
of our operations, whether through 
organic expansion in Brazil or through 
acquisitions abroad. We ended the 
year with R$ 1.6 billion in cash, of 
which US$ 250 million was raised in 
the international markets through 
a 10-year bond issue in December, 
which was awarded a credit rating 
above that of Brazilian sovereign risk.

The company has a major inquietude 
for growth. We have a team of highly 
capable professionals, who constitute 
our most important competitive edge. 
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The investment program approved for 
this year is substantial. The investment 
budget of R$ 388 million for 2006 far 
exceeds the R$ 219 million invested 
last year. We remain alert to expansion 
opportunities through acquisitions, at 
the same time as continuing to invest 
in increasing production capacity.

Oxiteno is to receive investments for 
the construction of Latin America’s fi rst 
fatty alcohol plant – comparable to the 
largest in the world and using natural 
sources of raw material – scheduled 
to start operations in 2007. With this 
and other projects, Oxiteno remains 
loyal to its strategy of focusing on 
specialty chemicals, which are products 
with a higher added value. We will be 
intensifying the initiatives that have 
helped us expand sales volume in 
Brazil by 7% in 2005, and which have 
been successful in the last few years, 
by winning new customers in the 
domestic market, even having faced an 
economy as weak as the one in 2005.

At Ultragaz, the reduction in interest 
rates during 2006 should create an 
environment for stronger growth in 
the economy, resulting in increased 
purchasing and consumption power, 
so raising prospects for a more 
positive year. Having concluded the 
restructuring of the dealers network 
in the South-Central region of the 
country – as a result of adjustments 
needed to the network after the 
incorporation of Shell – Ultragaz has 

consolidated its leadership position 
with a 24% share of the market, now 
being able to fully concentrate its 
efforts on increasing profi tability. 
The strategy strives daily for a closer 
and more effi cient management 
of the sales channels, including a 
program for the review of Ultragaz’s 
distribution structure, aiming at 
rationalizing costs and expenses, as 
well as the optimal use of assets.

The startup of operations at the Santos 
Intermodal Terminal (TIS), inaugurated 
in July, marks an important milestone 
for Ultracargo in the storage of bulk 
liquids in the Southeast region. TIS 
should result in signifi cant progress 
in the company’s performance in 
2006. It is worth remembering that 
Ultracargo’s EBITDA in 2005 was 
already 9% higher than in 2004 and 
should increase again this year. The 
good performance was also a result 
of the consolidation of pioneering 
operations, such as the Compressed 
Natural Gas operation and the Montes 
Claros Intermodal Terminal (TIM) in the 
state of Minas Gerais. TIM represented 
an additional 87% in freight 
transported by railroad in the region 
(not considering that transported by 
road), carrying a total of almost 20,000 
cubic meters per month of fuel.

The solidness of purpose expressed 
by our investments is apparent in 
technological innovation, and in the 
market’s subsequent recognition of 



the outstanding care that we provide 
our customers. The TNS/Interscience 
research carried out by Modern 
Consumer magazine identifi ed 
Ultragaz as the “Company that 
provides its customers with the best 
care in the kitchen gas segment” 
(which includes natural gas suppliers), 
with 40% of the votes, compared 
to 20% for the nearest runner-up. 
Likewise, Oxiteno was awarded the 
prize of “Best Petrochemical Company 
in Brazil and São Paulo” by the Miguel 
Calmon Foundation Institute for 
Social Studies (IMIC). Oxiteno is also 
a global benchmark in technological 
development. Evidence of this was the 
sale of Oxiteno’s production model 
of ethanolamine and ethoxylate to 
Project Management and Development 
Co. (PMD), a company in Saudi Arabia 
that is building a petrochemical site 
in the city of Al-Jubail. Furthermore, 
Ultracargo was given an outstanding 
assessment in the area of Safety, 
Health, Environment and Quality 
Assessment Systems (SASSMAQ), 
by Abiquim (Brazilian Association 
of the Chemical Industry), achieving 
an historic record of 10 million 
kilometers without accidents, a 
worldwide benchmark for excellence.

As part of the constant process of 
improving our corporate governance 
processes, Ultrapar set up its Fiscal 
Council in 2005, which will also act as 
an Audit Committee, responsible for 
the supervision of internal controls. 

Elected at the General Meeting for 
a term of one year, it reports to the 
shareholders and comprises fi ve 
members. The Fiscal Council is also 
responsible for evaluating the external 
auditing work, guaranteeing more 
effi ciency in the checking processes 
and therefore more security with 
respect to the quality of information 
provided to Ultrapar’s target 
audiences and interested public. 

As recognition of our commitment 
to transparency, equitable treatment 
and alignment of interests, Ultrapar 
was elected for the second year 
running, as the Best Company in 
Corporate Governance for the Oil, 
Gas and Petrochemical segment 
by Institutional Investor Research 
Group’s in its Latin American ranking.

We have reason to be proud of the 
companies we have built, with very 
positive expectations about the future 
we see ahead for Ultrapar. After all, 
it is during challenging moments 
that we identify our team’s capacity 
to overcome diffi culties, as well as 
the power of the support provided 
by our shareholders and the solid 
loyal relationships established with 
our customers. We are sure that 
we will continue to generate value 
for all those who have stake in our 
operations, as well as contributing 
to the development of our country.

Executive Offi cers
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Key indicators 

and highlights

Investment highlights 

Dominant position in its markets
✓ Largest LPG distributor in Brazil 
 and 6th largest independent 
 worldwide
✓ Sole producer of ethylene oxide and  
 its main derivatives in the Mercosur
✓ Leading provider of integrated  
 logistics for chemicals and fuels 
 in Brazil

Clear vision in each business segment
✓ LPG – to become an international  
 LPG distributor, with expertise  
 in emerging markets
✓ Chemicals – to expand position in 
 the ethylene oxide market to 
 other geographies, with focus 
 on specialty chemicals
✓ Logistics – increase geographical  
 footprint in Brazil in line with pent  
 up demand for effi cient logistics

Proven record in value creation
✓ Track-record in generating
   

shareholder value:
 • CAGR Net Income (1998 - 2005) = 31%
  • ROE 2005 = 17% 
✓ Disciplined capital allocation

Sound fi nancial position
✓ Consistent and signifi cant free 
 cash fl ow generation – rating S&P 
 brAA + (domestic scale) and BB+ 
 (global scale)
✓ Potential to pursue strategic  
 opportunities, either through   
 new investments or acquisitions
✓ Flexibility to pay substantial dividends

Aligned interest with superior 
corporate governance
✓ 100% tag along rights since 2000
✓ Independent directors
✓ Key executives with signifi cant  
 stake in the Company
✓ Professional management with  
 variable remuneration linked to EVA®
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Key indicators and highlights

R$ million(1)

(1) Except where otherwise indicated
(2) Capital expenditure and acquisitions, net of disposals
(3) End of  period, adjusted for the reverse stock split

   2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005    
Ultrapar 
 Net sales  1,878 2,285 2,995 4,000 4,784 4,694  
 EBITDA  304 373 487 498 737  546  
 Net earnings  128 132 222 246 414  299  
 Investments(2) 179 208 413 404 284 219  
 Dividends declared 49 212 65 72 164 157  
 Earnings per share (R$) 2.42 2.49 3.62 3.54 5.95 3.73  
 Dividend per preferred share (R$) 0.98 4.28 1.09 1.11 2.36 1.94  
 Number of employees  5,602 5,748 5,876 6,465 6,724 6,992  

Ultragaz     
 Sales volume (‘000 tons)   1,288   1,345   1,303   1,362  1,549 1,531    
 Net revenue   1,126 1,381 1,943 2,623 2,968 2,902   
 EBITDA  141 163 220 208 269 195  
 Investments(2) 117 140 127 272 99 83  
 Productivity (EBITDA R$/ton) 109 121 169 153 174 127      

Oxiteno     
 Sales volume (‘000 tons) 428 446 434 474 518 525  
 Net sales 686 832 956 1,238 1,663 1,610  
 EBITDA  132 177 233 243 421 300  
 Investments(2)  51 43 249 90 86 94  
 Productivity (EBITDA R$/ton) 308 397 537 513 812 572  

Ultracargo     
 Effective storage utilization (‘000 m3) 189 186 184 196 204 221     
 Net sales 94 105 131 177 197 234  
 EBITDA  26 28 29 40 41 44  
 Investments(2)  11 25 36 40 92 41  
 Productivity (EBITDA R$/m3 stored) 137 152 159 203 199 201  

Capital markets     
 Number of shares (thousands)(3) 53,000 53,000 69,691 69,691 69,691 81,325  
 Average daily trading volume (R$ ‘000)(4) 981 787 1,233 1,586 3,731 5,524  
 Bovespa price (R$/shares)(3)  18.50 18.70 24.90 37.29 51.00 32.50  
 NYSE price (US$/ADRs)(3)(5)  8.38 7.70 6.70 12.73 19.81 13.93   

(4) Considers total trades on the São Paulo stock exchange (Bovespa) and New York stock exchange (NYSE)
(5) 1 ADR = 1 preferred share
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Management 

fundamentals

Ultrapar is characterized by its 
lean structure and agile decision 
making. Ultrapar is a modern, 
fl exible and agile organization 
with worldwide standards of 
operational excellence which 
are refl ected in the quality of its 
services, products and processes, 
in all its businesses.

Meanwhile, the culture that 
permeates throughout its businesses 
drives them to the achievements of 
long-term results, always growing 
with consistency, independently of 
the economic situation. To this end, 
the company constantly invests in 
innovation and in the identifi cation 
of attractive business opportunities.

The three companies are also highly 
committed to values and principles 
that, besides assuring the quality of 
products and services offered, also 
aim at ensuring the health and safety 

of the employees, partners and the 
whole of society, adopting practices of 
environmental and social responsibility.

The Balanced Scorecard (BSC) 
system is the main tool used by 
Ultrapar to monitor the fulfi llment 
of all these commitments and 
targets. Linked to the BSC 
methodology, the company also 
uses a measuring system that 
provides guarantees to shareholders 
that the company is being 
managed in a responsible manner 
and always focused on adding 
value. This is the tool known as 
Economic Value Added (EVA®). 

Recent management of 

operational excellence

In addition to BSC and to EVA®, 
each company uses specifi c 
methods of management and 
controls related to its business.
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Oxiteno is in the process of introducing 
Six Sigma, a methodology aimed at 
operational optimization through 
the use of advanced statistics tools.

The people responsible for the 
implementation of improvements 
are the employees of the companies 
themselves (known as Black Belts and 
Green Belts), who know the culture 
of the organization and its processes, 
and who are trained to apply the 
methodology. The background of 
these employees enables results to 
be achieved faster, thus creating a 
Six Sigma culture in the company.

Some of the results already obtained 
from the introduction of the Six Sigma 
system are increased productivity and 
reduction in variable costs through 
the reduction of water consumption, 
decline in the generation of waste, 
lower overtime and better inventory 
control, among other signifi cant gains.

Six Sigma is used together 
with other existing programs 
for operational management 
excellence, such as Oxiteno’s 
Integrated Management System 
(SIGO), under which new products 
and projects must be compatible 
with the company’s standards 
of health, safety, environment, 
quality and social responsibility.

At Ultragaz, some of the existing 
programs that aim at excellence in 

management include PARE (accident 
prevention), SOMAR, that aims to 
standardize Ultragaz’s stores, services 
and dealer-network, and Fator 
Azul, that ensures standardization 
with regard to the environment, 
health and safety in workplace 
in all its geographical units.

Ultragaz will start in 2006 to bring 
itself into line with the criteria of 
the National Quality Awards (PNQ), 
organized by the National Quality 
Foundation. PNQ is the top award 
for management excellence in Brazil, 
granting the winners the status of a 
world class company. Inspired by the 
Malcolm Baldridge prize in the United 
States, it is based on a set of eight 
criteria for performance excellence, 
created from shared experiences 
among organizations in the public and 
private sectors. The eight criteria of 
excellence refer to issues of leadership, 
strategy and planning, customer, 
society, information and knowledge, 
people, processes and results.

To improve the performance of its units, 
its employees, its businesses and even 
that of its sub-contractors, Ultracargo 
also makes use of several programs. 
Among them are “Safety in Action”, 
which consists of additional safety 
training for the transport of dangerous 
products; “Eye on the Road”, that 
promotes continuous improvement in 
transport safety, focusing on human 
behavior; and the Subcontractors’ 



Manual, with an assessment 
system for companies and drivers, 
meeting the same service quality 
standards as those of Ultracargo.

Organizational structures that 

favor flexibility in decision-making 

and businesses expansion                   

 
In addition to the use of most modern 
methods of strategic and operational 
management, Ultrapar benefi ts from 
another factor: a leanly structured 
team of highly experienced executives. 
The simplicity of organization in 
Ultrapar’s top management ensures 
speedy decision making. The main 
executives have, on average, 30 years 
of experience in the area in which 
they operate, with a proven record 
in the LPG, chemical and specialized 
logistic sectors. All are shareholders 
and have variable remuneration 
linked to performance criteria, 
according to EVA® measures.

Each company has its own executive 
board, with an organizational structure 
that best suits the peculiarities of 
its business. In general, all these 
structures tend to be as simple 
as possible, encouraging the 
development of new businesses 
opportunities and new technologies.

At Ultragaz, the organizational 
structure is based on a decentralized 
commercial approach, so that each 
regional manager seeks to understand 

the needs of his customers as 
precisely as possible, supported by 
cost and return analysis systems 
that allow him to act if he were the 
actual owner of the business. This 
therefore gives priority to customer 
needs and takes into account Brazil’s 
various socio-cultural differences, 
to provide the basis for quality 
improvements in new services.

At Oxiteno, the organizational 
structure is designed in such a way 
as to focus on the development 
of specifi c products and solutions 
which improve the performance of 
the clients’ products. At the Mauá 
plant, for example, the organization 
model consists of cells with various 
specifi c functions, such as cells 
for monitoring demand and cells 
for products and engineering 
processes, avoiding conventional 
hierarchy and allowing better 
interaction with the company’s 
sales area.

Following its emphasis on the 
capacity to generate new products 

and businesses, in 2005, Ultracargo 
split its commercial area in two: one 
in charge of the daily relationship 
with its customers, including the 
management of services provided 
and another freed up for the 
research and development of 
new products and services. 

Certification at all levels

The certifi cates awarded to businesses 
of Ultrapar are a consequence 
of its philosophy of operational 
excellence, compliance with 
world class norms and standards 
and constant improvement.

Ultragaz has ISO 9001 certifi cates 
for several of its cylinder fi lling 
plants and several of its LPG sales 
processes, as well as its bulk 
delivery process – UltraSystem. 
Currently it is working to obtain 
a single certifi cate for its plants 
and processes. The company’s 
Environmental Risk Management 
System, based on ISO 14001, is also 
in its implementation phase.
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Oxiteno has various world class 
certifi cates, including some for very 
specifi c markets. It is a signatory 
to ABIQUIM’s “Responsible Action 
Program” and follows the “Good 
Manufacturing Practices” guidelines 
in its units focused on the food, 
pharmaceutical, cosmetics and 
detergent & disinfectant segments. 
Its four units carry ISO 9001, ISO 14001 
and SA 8000 certifi cation. The units at 
Mauá and Tremembé are also certifi ed 
by ISO/TS 16949 and IRAM/AITA 
– Instituto Argentino de Normalizacion 
e Associacion de Ingenieros y Técnicos 
del Automotor, for its brake fl uids. 
The Mauá and Camaçari units are 
also certifi ed by CTA – RBHA 21 and 
MIL-DTL-85470-B norms that attest 
to the quality of their aviation 
fuel and anti-freeze. The company 
also carries the Kosher Certifi cate 
allowing it to provide food-related 
products to the Jewish community.

Ultracargo was the fi rst company to 
be certifi ed and re-certifi ed under 
ABIQUIM’s Evaluation System for 
Safety, Health, Quality and the 
Environment (SASSMAQ) as part of 
its Responsible Operation Program. 
All units meet ISO 9001 standards; 
Paulínia already carries ISO 14001 
certifi cation and now Aratu and 
Camaçari are also working towards 
achieving the same certifi cation.

Risk management

The balanced composition of Ultrapar’s 
businesses reduces the level of 
risks during moments of economic 
crisis or other unforeseen events. Its 
three areas of activities have little 
correlation and good fundamentals 
individually: a market-leading LPG 
distribution operation, Mercosur’s sole 
producer of ethylene oxide and its 
main derivates, and a market leader 
in the logistics, transport and storage 
of chemical products and fuel.

This is one of the reasons that led 
the company to be granted a credit 
rating higher than that applied 
to Brazilian sovereign debt, both 
on a domestic and global scale, by 
Standard & Poor’s. The evaluation 
also took into account the company’s 
commitment to maintaining a 
prudent fi nancial policy. On a global 
scale, Ultrapar’s credit rating was only 
one level below investment grade.

Independently of its need to be 
evaluated in terms of credit rating, 
the company maintains a consistent 
risk management policy. Risks 
concerning the company’s market, 
operational stoppages, fi nancial and 
exchange rate exposure, information 
systems and environmental 
management are all evaluated.

Ultrapar also uses specifi c methods 
for credit analysis and the taking on 
of new customers to reduce the risk of 
bad debts in its accounts receivable. At 
the end of 2005, the company booked a 
bad debt provision which corresponded 
to 0.6% of consolidated net sales.

Finally, all proposed investments 
undergo a rigorous analysis of return 
on investment, which includes fi nancial 
and market performance under 
various scenarios. These simulations 
are based on EVA® measurement.
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Innovation

Innovation is one of the key cultural 
elements of Ultrapar’s growth 
strategy. It has a permanent presence 
throughout all the company’s 
businesses, resulting in a philosophy 
of continuous improvement and in 
the differentiation of products and 
services. It refl ects a culture that 
constantly seeks to maintain client 
loyalty by demonstrating reliability 
in meeting customer needs.

Innovation is achieved as a result 
of an in-depth knowledge of the 
market and customer requirements, 
backed by a team of well-prepared 
professionals who are motivated 
and committed to the values of the 
company. As part of this stance, the 
company strives to offer customers 
the best conditions for research 
and development, with modern 
and well-equipped laboratories, 
in addition to partnerships with 
national and international centers 
of technology and excellence.

Ultragaz – historical pioneers

The words innovation, creativity and 
opportunity were the guidelines 
for the foundation of Empreza 
Brazileira de Gaz a Domicilio Ltda., 
that subsequently became Ultragaz 
– Ultrapar’s fi rst business.

Ernesto Igel, a young Austrian 
immigrant, started his fi rst company 
with the aim of importing bathroom 
ceramics and metal fi ttings, stoves 
and heaters. But after the tragic 
accident that put an end to the 
Zeppelin era, a large quantity of 
propane (the gas used to power 
the Zeppelin engines) was left in 
storage. As Ernesto Igel already had a 
knowledge of bottling gas in Europe, 
he introduced this innovative idea in 
Brazil, at fi rst taking advantage of this 
existing supply and later importing 
LPG (liquefi ed petroleum gas).
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In this manner, his entrepreneurship 
and innovation became a model 
for attitudes within the company. 
Innovation has been a key feature of 
the company throughout its history, in 
broadening the use of LPG other than 
just for cooking gas, in its initiatives 
to regulate the industry, in the 
introduction of international safety 
standards, among other improvements.

Among the innovations introduced 
are products such as UltraSystem. A 
result of extensive funding earmarked 
for the development of new products 
and services, UltraSystem was Brazil’s 
fi rst LPG bulk-supply system for the 
commercial sector, with direct refueling 
from an Ultragaz truck to the gas tank 
installed at the customer’s premises.

This system was fi rst introduced in a 
pioneering move in 1995, positioning 
Ultragaz as the market leader in this 
segment to this day. And Ultragaz 
continues to improve and perfect 
the system. In 2005, the company set 
itself apart from its competitors in 
the residential condominium market, 
with the development of an individual 
billing system, being awarded the 
Marketing Best Prize for innovation.

Ultragaz is a benchmark in Brazil 
in the fi eld of butane and propane 
supply for the aerosol product 
industry. After Petrobras, it is the 

only company to have a special 
laboratory for gas testing, producing 
tailor-made products for clients.

Ultragaz also focuses efforts on the 
development of LPG use as part of 
Brazil’s energy supply. Furthermore, 
Ultragaz carries out work on the 
development and implementation of 
new LPG applications as an energy 
source, such as in refrigeration 
systems, food freezing and air 
conditioning, for example.

Oxiteno, synonymous with 

research and development

Oxiteno invests more than 2% of 
its annual revenues in the research 
and development of products 
and processes. These funds are 
primarily designated to scientifi c 
and technological development, in 
creating innovations for applications 
and products. Besides developing new 
products with a higher added value, 
the company focuses on the supply of 
tailor-made solutions for its customers.

To provide support for these strategies, 
the company has a technology center 
located in the city of Mauá, in the State 
of São Paulo. Located on a premises 
of 3,800 square meters, currently 
being expanded, the center represents 
an investment of more than US$ 30 
million. Many laboratories and pilot-



plants are based there, which have 
advanced analytical instruments at 
their disposal for use in development 
projects and product monitoring.

Nearly 10% of Oxiteno’s staff are 
dedicated to laboratory activities, 
divided into market segments: 
agrochemicals, food, textile products, 
construction, cosmetics, leather, 
detergents, hydraulic fl uids, oil, paints 
and varnishes, among others. The 
pilot-plants are capable of carrying out 
ethoxylation, esterifi cation, distillation 
and catalytic processes, as well as 
operating catalytic reactor prototypes 
for the synthesis of ethylene oxide.

In this way, Oxiteno’s services and 
solutions can be made available to 
customers. These include research 
and development on new products 
and applications, technical guidelines 
for the use of products, suggesting 
formulas and methods of process 
optimization, improving product 
performance in various aspects, 
among others. Among the most 
recent developments was the 
creation of catalyst regeneration 
technology, now used by Petrobras.

Oxiteno has been investing since 
2004 on another front in an attempt 
to anticipate global trends in science. 
It set up a Science and Technology 
Committee, composed of international 

specialists from the academic area, as 
well international industry. They meet 
from time to time to discuss special 
issues and new developments in the 
international tensoactive market 
and maintain constant contact via 
e-mails among themselves and with 
Oxiteno’s technicians in Brazil.

All the technical support is provided 
by highly qualifi ed staff. Employees 
have either technical qualifi cations or 
university education – most of these 
latter being graduates in engineering 
or chemistry. Of those who went to 
university, most have a post-graduate, 
master’s or doctorate’s degree, in many 
cases being encouraged and supported 
by the company. This important 
competitive differential is responsible 
for the company’s high level of 
international recognition. Oxiteno is 
considered a benchmark in catalyst 
replacement. An operation of this 
type was carried out at the Camaçari 
unit; the procedure took eleven days 
(with a target, next time, to achieve 
it in less than ten days) compared 
to almost thirty days at other multi-
national petrochemical companies.

Oxiteno works in partnership with 
Brazil’s most respected universities 
and technology centers. Of particular 
note are CENPES (Petrobras’ Research 
and Development Center), IPT 
(Technological Researches Institute), 

ITAL (Food Technology Institute), 
foreign institutes such as the French 
Centre National de la Recherche 
Scientifi que (CNRS), as well as the 
University of São Paulo, Unicamp, the 
Federal Universities of Rio de Janeiro 
and Rio Grande do Sul, among others. 

Of special interest is the technological 
research, carried out in association 
with Petrobras, on better ways of using 
the heavy crude oil produced from the 
Marlim fi eld. Oxiteno also carries out 
research on the use of ethanol as a raw 
material in the production of chemical 
inputs, as well as on the use of other 
renewable sources of raw material.

For 2007, Oxiteno is poised for 
another pioneering move: the start-
up of Latin America’s fi rst fatty alcohol 
plant – comparable to the largest in 
the world and using renewable raw 
materials – adding 100,000 tons to 
the company’s production capacity 
and increasing its competitiveness 
in the market for cosmetics and 
detergents. 

Oxiteno’s great technological 
capability has also enabled 
the company to start licensing 
production technology. Among 
the deals already signed was 
the sale of its ethanolamine and 
ethoxylate production model, in 
2005, to Project Management 
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and Development Co. (PMD), a 
company located in Saudi Arabia 
which is building a petrochemical 
complex in the city of Al-Jubail.

At Ultracargo, tailor-made 

logistic solutions                                        

Operating with many different 
services within the transport and 
storage logistics segment for chemical 
products and fuels, Ultracargo offers 
solutions with a focus on innovation, 
its competitive  edge in the market.

The company’s services range from 
the diagnosis of services to be 
carried out, to the creation of the 
logistic projects, managing turn-key 
operations, carrying out specifi c 
investments needed, managing assets, 
as well as managing logistics controls 
from a physical, fi nancial and fi scal 
perspective, or a combination of all 
three. It is the only company in Brazil 
able to offer a package of transport 
and storage services and complete 
logistics solutions for customers in the 
chemical products and fuel segments.

Its market leadership is based on the 
fact that it remains alert to changes 
in the chemical and fuel industry. Its 
trump card is that it has always been 
the fi rst to build transport and storage 
terminals at strategic locations.

This was the case with the 
inauguration, in 2004, of the Montes 
Claros Intermodal Terminal (TIM) 
which improved operations and 
reduced operating costs for all 
the fuel distributors in the region, 
creating a new market segment for 
Ultracargo – the gasoline and diesel 
market. As there had previously been 
no support base, each distributor 
had been carrying out its operations 
individually, at a high cost. With TIM, 
in addition to making large-scale 
storage for distributors feasible, it was 
also possible to supply gasoline and 
diesel coming from Betim by railroad. 
Distribution and sale are carried out 
directly from the terminal to the 
fuel service stations in the region.

The building of the Santos Intermodal 
Terminal (TIS) at São Paulo’s main 
port of Santos at the end of 2005, 
is also the result of the company’s 
foresight, which anticipated the 
increase in ethanol exports from 
Brazil and the lack of vegetable oil 
storage facilities at that port.

Tailor-made solutions for smaller 
operations also form part of 
Ultracargo’s competitive edge. These 
are the so-called “in-house” operations, 
through which the customer hands 
over the management of deliveries, 
dispatch and even inventory 

control to Ultracargo’s competent 
technicians in these locations.

All Ultracargo operations use the 
most modern technology, either 
already available or developed by the 
company itself in specifi c instances. 
The pioneering approach in the area of 
Information Technology, for example, 
can be cited in its use of various tools, 
some still exclusive to the company. 
Ultracargo installed the fi rst Autotrac 
(vehicle tracking) systems in trucks 
in Brazil, in 1994, and the fi rst radar 
tank measuring system in 1996.

Moreover, Ultracargo’s customers can 
make use of tools such as “e-cargo”, 
with which customers are able 
to generate personalized reports 
and monitor their operations in 
real time, and “estoque.net”, which 
provides access to their respective 
inventory positions, among others.



Academic members

Prof. Dr. Holmberg: Chalmers University - Sweden
✓ President of the School of Chemical and Biological Engineering. He has also 
 worked at Berol Nobel, as Research Director.
✓ Research line: Application of surfactants in paints, gemini surfactants, 
 surfactant interaction/enzymes, “cleavable” surfactants, etc.

Prof. Dr. Scamehorn: Oklahoma University - USA
✓ Director of the Institute of Applied Surfactant Research (IASR) and President of AOCS. 
✓ Research line: Surfactants, mining, separation process, ultra-fi ltration, 
 precipitation and solubilization and surfactant systems.

Prof. Dr. Galembeck: Unicamp - Brasil
✓ Number 1 Brazilian authority on surfactants. 
✓ Research line: Morphology and topochemistry of solids. Polymeric latex. 
 Adhesion and adhesives. Poliphosphates: particles, glasses and gel. Dielectric   
 microchemistry and macroionics. Auto-ordering and formation of fi lm particles. 

Members from industry

Guido Bognolo: Italian
✓ Started his career in R&D at P&G from 1970 to 1977
✓ ICI/Atlas/Uniqema in 1977
✓ Manager of technical services and development
✓ Global product manager for ethylene oxide and derivatives
✓ Director of innovation

Dr. Wilfried Dolkemeyer: German
✓ Started his career in R&D at Condea in 1977
✓ Responsible for R&D, sales and marketing from 1992 to 1997
✓ Director of R&D from 1989 to 1992
✓ President of Base Products Division from 1997 to 2001
✓ CEO of Sasol Polymers from 2001 to 2002
✓ Founded DolCo in 2003 – sales, marketing and consultancy on surfactants 
 and polyolefi ns

Oxiteno - members of the Science and Technology Committee



Ultrapar Annual Report   |  2005

Corporate 

governance

In 2005, Ultrapar’s corporate 
governance practices were improved 
with the creation of a permanent Fiscal 
Council, consisting of fi ve members, 
elected at the general shareholders 
meeting in July, for a term of one year. 

The Fiscal Council reports to the 
shareholders and also performs 
the role of Audit Committee, both 
internally and externally. It supervises 
the work of the internal auditors, and 
is responsible for evaluating external 
auditing. It follows the rules set 
out in Brazil’s legislation and those 
covered by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. 

All its members are highly qualifi ed, 
with an extensive economic 
background, taking individual 
responsibility for whatever they 
attest to. The creation of this Council 
provides greater security in the quality 
of fi nancial information provided 
by the company, safeguarding the 
principles of transparency, equal 
treatment, accountability, compliance 
with the law and ethical behavior. 

Another recent movement was the 
decision to join Level 1 of Bovespa’s 
Corporate Governance, which became 
effective in October, 2005. Ultrapar 
had already been a participant in 
the share index of companies with 
differentiated tag along rights (ITAG) 
and is now part of the share index 
of companies with differentiated 
corporate governance practices (IGC).

Ultrapar is a participant of the Latin 
American Corporate Governance 
Roundtable, a study group sponsored 
by the Organization for Economic 
Cooperation and Development 
(OECD), with the cooperation of the 
International Finance Corporation 
(IFC) and Bovespa, with the 
objective of developing corporate 
governance in Latin America.

The year 2005 saw a further step 
towards Ultrapar’s complete 
compliance to the US Sarbanes-
Oxley Act. To this end, the company 
mapped out all its control processes 
and is carrying out the corrections 
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and improvements necessary in 
2006. The fi nancial statements had 
already incorporated the pertinent 
contractual obligations and those 
transactions not covered in the 
company balance sheet. Ultrapar 
also publishes fi nancial statements 
reconciling net earnings, assets and 
net worth according to Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles 
in the United States (USGAAP).

For the second year running, Ultrapar 
was elected Best Company in 
Corporate Governance in the Oil, Gas 
and Petrochemical industry, according 
to the Institutional Investor Research 
Group’s ranking of Latin American 
companies. Additional recognition 
was received in the area of investor 
relations, when the company was 
rated as one of the fi ve best companies 
outside the Bovespa Index, in a 
poll carried out by IR Magazine.

Tag along rights – protection 

for minority shareholders in 

event of change of control      

Since the beginning of 2000, Ultrapar 
has granted tag along rights to its 
shareholders, guaranteeing equitable 
treatment to minority shareholders 
in the event of the sale of shareholder 
control in the company. In this 
measure, the company was also 
forward-thinking, differentiating 
itself from the great majority of the 
market. At the end of 2001, with the 

approval of Brazil’s new Corporate Law, 
tag along rights became mandatory 
– but limited – extending only 80% 
of the value of the offer just to 
shareholders with voting shares. In the 
case of Ultrapar, tag along rights are 
guaranteed at 100% of the value of the 
offer to holders of all classes of share.

Executives’ variable remuneration 

linked to EVA® targets                          

Following the same principles 
of commitment and alignment 
of interests with those of the 
shareholders, Ultrapar implemented 
Economic Value Added (EVA®) in 
all its business units. Since 2002, 
executives’ variable remuneration 
has been linked to the EVA® 
results for each business unit. 

Equity participation plan

Continuing the philosophy of making 
its top executives partners in the 
company, instituted in 2003, the 
plan offers executives the benefi ts 
of preferred shares held in treasury. 
An executive benefi ting from this 
program is entitled to all the benefi ts 
inherent in the shares. However, the 
shares remain the property of the 
company for a period of ten years, 
at the end of which time ownership 
of the shares is transferred to 
the executive. By 2005, fi ve of the 
new generation of executives had 
been included in the program.



Code of ethics

 

Adopted since April 2004, Ultrapar’s 
code of ethics aims at reducing 
subjectivity in the interpretation of 
ethical principles and so formalizing 
and institutionalizing a benchmark 
reference for professional behavior, 
including the handling of real 
and apparent confl icts of interest, 
thus becoming a standard for the 
company’s internal and external 
relationships with its target 
audiences (shareholders, customers, 
employees, unions, partners, suppliers, 
service providers, competitors, 
society, government and the 
communities in which it operates). 
It also aims to guarantee that 
daily concerns about effi ciency, 
competition and profi tability 
all involve ethic behavior. 

External audit

The company’s behavior in its 
relationship with its auditors is 
based on principles that preserve 
the auditor’s independence. In 2005, 
other tasks not directly linked to 
auditing services were contracted 
for a total value of R$ 76,000, 
representing 5.2% of the total 
external auditor’s fee. As declared 
by the external auditors to 
Ultrapar’s management and 
based on the evaluation of the 
company itself, none of these tasks 
affected the independence and 

objectivity required for the carrying 
out of an independent audit. In 
anticipation of the directives from 
the CVM, Brazil’s securities 
commission in 2002, Ultrapar 
introduced a system of alternating 
its independent auditors.

Investor relations

Ultrapar’s investor relations 
department introduced a new CRM 
system in 2005 that made contact and 
the exchange of information easier 
and faster, making it easier to deal 
with requests and interact with 
investors and analysts, so making 
it possible to achieve more targeted 
interactions. The traditional annual 
calendar of events was fulfi lled and 
more than 200 meetings with 
analysts and investors were held 
at both national and international 
events, road shows, conferences, 
seminars, etc. The investor relations 
site has remained as a constantly 
updated information channel, 
for the publication of results, 
material facts and the convening 
of shareholders’ meetings. 

Board of Directors 

The Board of Directors is responsible 
for the general directives governing 
Ultrapar’s businesses. Among 
other responsibilities, it elects the 
members of the Executive Board 
and supervises the carrying out of 

its function. It decides on increases 
in capital up to the limit of the 
company’s authorized capital, on 
the distribution of dividends and 
interest on equity, on internal 
investments, investments in other 
companies, and it can propose 
dissolution or incorporation to a 
general meeting of shareholders, 
as well as the appointment 
of independent auditors.

At present, the Board of Directors 
consists of seven members. The 
term of offi ce is for one year, with 
re-election allowed. Four of the seven 
members are independent and two 
are executive directors. One of the 
independent directors represents 
the preferred shareholders.

The concept of being an independent 
director includes: (i) not having any 
link with the company, except 
through a possible minority 
shareholding, (ii) not having been 
an employee of Ultrapar or of any of 
its subsidiaries,(iii) not offering any 
service or product to the company, 
(iv) not being an employee of any 
entity that is providing services 
or products to the company, (v) 
not being the spouse or close relative 
of any director or manager, and (vi) 
not receiving any remuneration 
from the company, save for the fee 
as a board member and dividends 
from time to time (if he or she is 
a shareholder).
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Fiscal Council

This body is of a permanent nature, 
with election at the annual general 
meeting for a one-year term . In 
addition to exercising the functions 
set out under Brazilian Law, it 
also exercises the functions of an 

Audit Committee, as set out in the 
terms of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

Executive Board

The Executive Board is responsible for 
the management of the company’s 
businesses, in accordance with the 

directives set by the Board of Directors. 
All the executive offi cers are 
market professionals, with 
signifi cant experience in the sectors 
in which Ultrapar’s companies 
operate, responsible for the daily 
running of the businesses. They 
have no individual responsibility 
determined under the Company 
Bylaws or determined by the Board 
of Directors, except for the Chief 
Executive Offi cer, Vice-President 
and the Investor Relations Offi cer. 
Currently, the Executive Board 
consists of six members: the chief 
executive offi cer, the vice-president, 
and the fi nancial and investor 
relations offi cer, as well as the chief 
executive offi cers of Ultragaz, 
Oxiteno and Ultracargo. Each business 
has its own executive board 
structure. The resumés of Ultrapar’s 
board members and directors 
can be found on the company 
website: www.ultra.com.br.

Corporate structure

The organization chart shows 
Ultrapar’s current shareholding 
structure. The percentages represent 
the share of the voting capital and 
the total capital, respectively.Shareholder breakdown

   Common   Preferred      
   shares % shares % Total % 

Ultra S.A. 32,646,696 66% 0 0% 32,646,696 40% 

Others  15,014,462 31% 2,482,161 8% 17,496,623  22% 
Market  1,768,739 3% 29,413,351 92% 31,182,090  38% 
Total 49,429,897 100% 31,895,512 100% 81,325,409 100% 



Management

Board of Directors

Paulo Guilherme Aguiar Cunha
Chairman 

Lucio de Castro Andrade Filho
Vice-chairman

Ana Maria Levy Villela Igel

Nildemar Secches

Olavo Egydio Monteiro de Carvalho

Paulo Vieira Belotti

Renato Ochman

Fiscal Council

Flavio César Maia Luz
President

John Michael Streithorst

Mário Probst

Raul Murgel Braga

Wolfgang Eberhard Rohrbach 

Executive Board - Ultrapar

Paulo Guilherme Aguiar Cunha
Chief executive offi cer

Lucio de Castro Andrade Filho
Vice-president 

Eduardo de Toledo
Chief executive offi cer of Ultracargo 

Fábio Schvartsman
Chief fi nancial and investor 
relations offi cer 

Pedro Jorge Filho
Chief executive offi cer of Ultragaz 

Pedro Wongtschowski
Chief executive offi cer of Oxiteno 

Executive Board – Ultragaz

Pedro Jorge Filho
Chief executive offi cer 
  
Américo Genzini Filho
Administrative director 
and comptroller

Oswaldo Francesconi Filho
Regional director

Wagner Dias do Patrocinio
Regional director

Executive Board – Oxiteno

Pedro Wongtschowski
Chief executive offi cer 

Cynthia May Hobbs Pinho
Administrative director 
and comptroller

Flavio do Couto Bezerra Cavalcanti
Industrial director

João Benjamin Parolin
Commercial director

Executive Board - Ultracargo

Eduardo de Toledo
Chief executive offi cer 

Ricardo Isaac Catran
Regional director

Chief Financial Officers

Fábio Schvartsman
Chief fi nancial and investor 
relations offi cer 

André Covre
Director of planning and 
investor relations 

Marcello De Simone
Treasurer

Roberto Kutschat
Comptroller
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Relationship with 

stakeholders

Since its foundation, one of Ultrapar’s 
key values has been that of sustainable 
growth. Thus, its relationships with 
its employees, customers, suppliers, 
the communities surrounding its 
production units and society at large, 
have always been based on ethical 
behavior, transparency of purpose and 
commitment to constant development. 

Its own Code of Ethics provides the 
reference for the stance adopted 
by the companies and is applicable 
to all employees, as a benchmark 
for professional behavior, and is a 
standard for the internal and external 
relationships with the company’s 
target audience and interested public.

Customers and suppliers as partners

Respect for the customer is 
demonstrated by supplying quality 
products produced to the highest 
social and environmental standards. 
In some cases, this relationship can 
evolve into becoming a partnership, 
such as in the case of the in-house 

operations run by Ultracargo or 
the joint development of specifi c 
products at Oxiteno’s laboratories.

In regard to suppliers, the business 
units also operate in partnership, 
often providing encouragement and 
investing in the development of these 
suppliers, in order to enable them to 
keep up to the standards of Ultrapar’s 
companies. Examples of this are the 
safety campaigns and training on 
the handling of dangerous products 
offered by Ultracargo to its service 
providers; or the training offered to 
Ultragaz’s distribution network, aiming 
to standardize levels of quality and 
respect in serving the customer.

Management by competence

Ultrapar’s philosophy is that it is the 
people that make the difference. 
Therefore, the company’s policy for 
attracting, retaining and training 
talent is central to its organization. 
Following this philosophy, Ultrapar 
applies a set of procedures that aim at 
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attributing worth to its employees and 
broadening their professional horizons.

In 2005, reaffi rming this conviction, 
Oxiteno carried out a complete 
revision of all existing activities within 
the company, linking the required 
skills to its remuneration system. 
The program made the company’s 
relationships with its employees even 
more transparent, as it establishes 
the skills and level of competence 
required, creating individual personal 
development plans, through which 
the employee is encouraged to 
rectify defi ciencies and build on 
talent. It also establishes a system of 
remuneration and promotions based 
on competences and the training-up 
of successors, identifying talent to 
assume key-positions inside the 
organization and planning their 
professional career development.

Talent renewal and incentives 

for building professional skills 

One source for attracting new talent 
consists of the internship and trainee 
programs which have arrangements 
with Brazil’s best universities, 
offering all the support needed for 
the personal career development 
of the future professional. In 2005, 
2,445 people enrolled in the trainee 
program – the highest fi gure in the 
17 years since its inception; and 8,212 
enrolled in the internship program.

To give an idea of the importance 
attributed to this program, we just 
need to cite some of the current 
directors and managers who have 
risen to where they are as a result of 
it. This is the case of Pedro Jorge Filho, 
Chief executive offi cer of Ultragaz, 
who was an intern in the fi rst class 
of the program, in 1977; and Eduardo 
de Toledo, Chief executive offi cer of 
Ultracargo, who took part in the class 
of 1987.

Created in 2004, Academia Ultragaz is 
founded on the concept of Strategic 
Knowledge Management, aimed at 
identifying, developing, spreading 
and updating modern and relevant 
management concepts within the 
company. The purpose of Academia 
Ultragaz is to anticipate needs 
and develop sustainable skills and 
competencies, made feasible with 
the aid of internally developed 
programs and partnerships with 
well-known universities and 
consulting companies.

Aiming at promoting the development 
of the chemical industry and improving 
the education level of Brazil’s students, 
Oxiteno, in partnership with ABEQ 
(Brazilian Association of Chemical 
Engineering), awards prizes to 
chemical engineering students who 
present the best projects dealing 
with a given day-to-day problem 
in the petrochemical industry.

Investment in training
R$ million

Investment in health, safety 

and environment
R$ million 



All the companies maintain scholarship 
programs for language learning, 
IT training, safety and behavior, 
in addition to undergraduate, 
graduate, Master’s and MBA courses. 
At Ultracargo, of particular note 
is the Learning Program, which 
meets elementary school needs for 
mechanics, drivers and operators with 
Portuguese, mathematics and science 
classes with the purpose of helping 
them to express themselves clearly, 
to increase their language knowledge 
and to better understand the scientifi c 
concepts involved in their surroundings.

Quality of life for employees

In the area of health, the company 
aims to improve the working 
conditions and the quality of life for its 
employees. Several of Ultragaz’s units, 
such as Capuava, Barueri and Betim 
have already introduced gymnastic 
classes for their employees – a 15 
minute daily routine of exercises such 
as stretching and relaxing before every 
work shift. The Capuava unit already 
successfully uses a system for rotating 
tasks, as a way of avoiding repetitive 
tasks that could cause repetitive 
strain injury. Oxiteno, for example, 
provides support for an athletics 
running team, made up of employees.

And as a way of providing 
encouragement and fostering 
commitment, Ultrapar’s employees 

are covered by the company’s 
employee profi t-sharing program, 
linked to the strategic mapping of the 
groups’ companies, discussed at the 
beginning of every year. They are also 
covered by Ultraprev, a private pension 
plan, with the purpose of providing 
additional retirement income.

Participating in Brazil’s growth 

Ultrapar’s commitment to quality 
and ethics for consumers, suppliers 
and employees also extends to the 
communities with which it has contact. 
Among the various ways of fulfi lling 
these commitments, are several social 
programs focused mainly on education.

The company has partnerships 
with several relief organizations 
and non-governmental bodies such 
as Instituto Ayrton Senna, Ação 
Comunitária, Associação Obra do 
Berço, Casas André Luís, among 
others, and through each unit of its 
subsidiaries, seeks to interact with the 
communities in their neighborhoods.
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One activity carried out at the 
company’s headquarters in São Paulo 
is Ultra Formare, Ultrapar’s main 
social project. This is a skill-building 
school that is free of charge, which 
trains up needy youngsters to become 
administrative clerks. It reproduces 
a work environment in which the 
students can put the theories 
learned into practice. The courses 
offer certifi cates recognized by the 
Ministry of Education and are run by 
specially trained volunteers, company 
employees and service providers of 
Ultrapar. The students are selected 
from schools in the public network.

Ultrapar, in partnership with the 
Municipal Authority of São Paulo, 
the Lemann Foundation and other 
sponsors, supports the Management 
for Successful Schooling program. The 
object of the program is to improve 
the training of the directors of the 
municipal schools, aimed at improving 
the performance of their pupils. In the 
fi rst step, 150 directors, the equivalent 
of 32% of the primary schools in 
the municipality, participated in 
the training through an e-learning 
course. Approximately 250,000 pupils 
will benefi t from this program.

Oxiteno maintains several programs 
with the communities near its units. 
The Petrochemical site of Mauá, 

for example, together with other 
companies in the site, sponsors 
an Adapted Swimming Program 
for handicapped students and 
organizes “Polo Dá Vida”, helping 
the underprivileged people in the 
neighborhood recover their citizenship 
status. In Tremembé, a pioneering 
and successful move was undertaken, 
together with the local City Hall, 
to educate needy children in the 
handicraft traditions of the city.

Among several projects that have 
been carried out by Ultragaz, it is 
worth drawing attention to the 
recent partnership with the Young 
Citizen Project (Projeto Pequeno 
Cidadão) – run by the University of 
São Paulo in Ribeirão Preto – and two 
other companies: 30 needy children 
attend school in the morning and 
are given additional education at the 
University of São Paulo, accompanied 
by nutritional, medical and dental care, 
etc. Another project, Good Grades and 
Good Soccer Playing (Bom de Nota e 
Bom de Bola) sponsors about 1,000 
children in sports schools, where the 
pre-requisite is that the child must 
present good grades. It is also worth 
mentioning the partnership with 
the City Hall of Mauá (state of São 
Paulo), in an updating program for 
teachers in the public school network.

In 2005, Ultrapar generated added 

value of R$ 1.2 billion, distributed as 

shown in the pie chart below: 

Note: drawn up according to the model of the 

Accounting, Actuarial and Financial Research Institute 

Foundation, part of the University of São Paulo - FIPECAFI



Social balance sheet 

    2005 
    Amount (’000 Reais)  
1) Calculation base
 Net sales (NS)   4,693,848   
 Operating profit (OP)    332,543  
 Gross payroll (GP)    233,307  

  Amount % Of Gross % Of net
  (’000 Reais) payroll sales   
2) Internal social indicators
 Food  33,602  14.4% 0.7%    
 Compulsory social charges  87,765  37.6% 1.9%       
 Private pension  1,137  0.5% 0.0%          
 Health  26,092  11.2% 0.6%       
 Safety and medicine in the workplace  4,525  1.9% 0.1%   
 Education  1,045  0.4% 0.0%   
 Training and professional development  4,806  2.1% 0.1%   
 Employee profit sharing 24,043  10.3% 0.5%   
 Others  9,774 4.2% 0.2%   
Total - internal social indicators  192,789  82.6% 4.1%  

  Amount % Of operating % Of net
  (’000 Reais) profit sales   
3)External social indicators
 Education  120  0.0% 0.0%   
 Culture  676  0.2% 0.0%   
 Others (donations and indmnities for damages caused)  3,235  1.0% 0.1%   
Total contributions to society  4,031  1.2% 0.1%  
 Taxes (excluding social charges)  259,935  78.2% 5.5%  
Total - external social indicators 263,966  79.4% 5.6%  

                                                        
4) Environmetal indicators                                             
 Related to company operations  3,593  1.1% 0.1%  
Total investment in the environment  3,593  1.1% 0.1%    
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Environment

Respect for the environment is 
an indispensable characteristic of 
Ultrapar’s operations. The organization 
as a whole emphasizes safety 
and quality of life, criteria always 
present in the servicing of customer 
requirements, being directly related 
to environmental preservation. 

Ultrapar’s companies handle chemical 
products which can be dangerous 
and which may cause damage to 
the environment and to nearby 
communities, in the instance of 
mismanagement within the facilities 
or in the event of accidents. For these 
reasons, in addition to ensuring 
that its installations and operations 
comply with the federal, state and 
municipal laws and regulations 
covering the environment, Ultrapar 
also follows specifi c environmental 
quality control standards. 

Each one of the companies has a 
series of programs for encouraging 
and enforcing compliance to quality 

and safety standards inside and 
outside the facilities and are taking 
steps towards achieving international 
standards of certifi cation such as ISO 
14001 – environmental management 
standards that guarantee 
preservation of the environment.

Internally, Ultragaz applies programs 
such as PARE and Fator Azul. PARE 
is an accident prevention program, 
inspired by analysis of the incident 
pyramid, conceived by Frank Bird 
– the specialist in engineering safety 
– which identifi es and eliminates 
the causes of potential accidents, 
thus avoiding their occurrence. Fator 
Azul is a management system which 
ensures operational excellence in 
dealing with the environment, as well 
as occupational health and safety at 
all the company’s facilities. In addition 
to these programs, the majority of the 
company’s operational bases carries 
out selective waste collection, treats 
effl uent from the gas bottle painting 
area, and commit themselves to 
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monitoring the scrapping of the old 
canisters to the end of the process, to 
ensure that there will be no dangerous 
re-use of them, affecting public health 
and safety and the environment 
– among other initiatives. The 
company is currently implementing 
an Environmental Risk Management 
System, to bring itself into line with 
the requirements of ISO 14001.

Oxiteno and Ultracargo are 
co-signatories of the Responsible 
Operation Program sponsored 
by the Brazilian Association of 
Chemical Industries - Abiquim. The 
initiative is specifi cally for chemical 
companies and their partners 
and involves the fulfi llment of 
recommendations on safety, the 
environment and the management 
of products, among others. 

Inside the Petrochemical Complexes 
in which they operate, there are 
contingency plans for collaboration 
between the companies that operate 
there, with the objective of protecting 
neighboring communities. Oxiteno 
also has a sophisticated interlocking 
system safety, which deactivates 
chain-reaction systems, preventing the 
occurrence of accidents. The company 
already has ISO 14001 certifi cation 
for its four industrial facilities.

Programs for stimulating 

environmental preservation through 

the re-use or treatment of waste       

In addition, Oxiteno has developed the 
SIGO Program – Oxiteno Integrated 
Management System – which ensures 
that all new products and projects 
are compatible with the company’s 
current standards of health, safety, 
environment, quality and social 
responsibility. The Mauá facility, for 
instance, in 2006 is scheduled to 
inaugurate its new Effl uent Treatment 
Station (ETE), with the capacity to treat 
50 cubic meters of effl uent per hour. 

Another important initiative is the 
agreement to supply carbon dioxide 
gas (CO2) which the Camaçari unit 
has signed with Petrobras. Generated 
during the ethylene oxide production 
process, the CO2 will be taken directly 
by a pipe directly connected to the 
ethylene oxide tower and transported 
40km to the location where it will be 
injected into Petrobras’ oil wells to 
make extraction easier. On average, 
this represents 36,500 tons per year 
of carbon dioxide gas that will not 
be expelled into the atmosphere 
as a result of this initiative.

And in monitoring its products 
from the point at which they leave 

Oxiteno

Atmospheric emissions of 

CO2 as a proportion of total 

production 
Kg of CO2 per ton of production 



its facilities, the company concerns 
itself with their transport to their 
end-destination. Many items are 
transported by Oxiteno itself, in 
packaging specially designed for 
safety, while outsourced freight 
companies are monitored through 
the measuring of certain indicators. 
There are also incentive campaigns 
for subcontractors to implement 
the same level of responsibility.

Safety incentives generate 

results – Ultracargo has 

recorded 10 million kilometers 

traveled without accidents       

To deal with the question of daily 
transport safety and the storage 
of dangerous products, Ultracargo 
uses various types of program 
to improve the performance of 
its facilities, employees and its 
subcontractors. The company, which 
today is an industry benchmark in 
its operational segment, has carried 
out substantial investments in the 
last three years, with the objective of 
reducing accident rates. In October, 
2005, the company reached the mark 
of 10 million kilometers traveled 
with no serious accidents, a world 
benchmark, and a zero absence 
of workers due to accidents at its 
terminals. In terms of international 

standards, the Paulínia facility already 
carries ISO 14001 certifi cation and 
now the Aratu and Camaçari units 
are the fi rst ones in their respective 
petrochemical complexes, to be 
seeking this certifi cation. The process 
of bringing standards into line with 
certifi cation requirements began in 
September at the Tequimar Aratu and 
Transultra Camaçari, through the start 
of an employee awareness campaign, 
expected to last around 14 months. 

The newest unit in the company, the 
Santos Terminal Intermodal, was built 
according to the highest safety and 
environmental standards, with a zero 
level of emissions into the atmosphere. 



Overview of

operations
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Even under pressure from the high 
cost of oil and its by-products, as well 
as the weak growth in the Brazilian 
economy, Ultragaz was able to report 
a positive performance in 2005, 
maintaining its leadership in the 
liquefi ed petroleum gas distribution 
market – bottled, as well as bulk, 
in the domestic, commercial and 
industrial segments. Furthermore, 
the company recovered its previous 
24% market share level, which it had 
enjoyed before the implementation 
of its program to restructure its 
dealer network in the South-Central 
region of Brazil, as a consequence 
of the Shell Gas acquisition. 

As a result of the Brazilian economy’s 
weak performance, the LPG market in 
2005 saw a retraction of 1% compared 
to 2004, with a corresponding drop 
in the sales volume of Ultragaz. 
Ultragaz’s net sales for the year 
amounted to R$ 2.9 billion, down 
2% on the previous year, mainly as 

a result of the lower sales volume. 
The retraction in the LPG market and 
the effect of the oil price rises on the 
company’s distribution costs were 
the main factors that hampered the 
company’s performance during the 
year. EBITDA in 2005 amounted to 
R$ 195 million, down 27% on 2004.

Safety and quality 

In all its segments, Ultragaz has 
been a pioneer in Brazil for almost 
70 years. It was the fi rst to introduce 
bottled gas in Brazil in 1937, which 
became known as “kitchen gas” by 
Brazilian families. It was also the fi rst 
to maintain a scheduled delivery 
service and many other conveniences, 
before arriving at the wide range of 
services to the residential customer 
that the company offers today.

One of the main characteristics of 
the company is to maintain the same 
standard of quality and service in the 
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locations where it operates. There 
are 16 bases and 4,500 retail outlets, 
which operate in the domestic market 
as well as in the commercial and 
industrial markets, with two types of 
operation: bottled or bulk gas. This 
distribution effort includes also a 
fl eet of 1,037 vehicles and 94 stores 
owned by the company. In addition 
to LPG, Ultragaz has a production line 
for the industrial supply of propane, 
butane and a mixture for aerosols. In 
the aerosol segment, the company’s 
capacity for innovation has allowed 
it to achieve the market leadership 
in Brazil. Its solutions are developed 
at a modern gas laboratory, the only 
one in Brazil outside Petrobras.

Another recent innovation of the 
company is Click Ultragaz, the fi rst 
internet LPG sales service, which 
allows the purchase of LPG bottles via 
the internet with a choice of various 
payment methods. For the moment 
this service is only available to those 
who live in the Greater Metropolitan 
Area of São Paulo. Home Deliveries 
are already available, through Dial 
Ultragaz, an 0800 phone which 
receives the order and sends the 
bottle to the customer’s home – either 
using the Scheduled Delivery service 
– by which the customer books the 
delivery for a convenient day; or 
the Fast Delivery service – by which 
quality is combined with speed. 

Ultragaz’s LPG bottles are identifi ed 
by their blue color and go through 
a rigorous safety checking process 
during the gas bottling process. The 
objective is to make the company’s 
quality differentials evident to the 
customer for a product that is treated 
as a commodity by the market. In all 
its services, the customer can count on 
free technical assistance: installation 
of the canister, checking safety 
conditions and verifi cation of ancillary 
equipment (regulator, hose, etc).

Innovation in bulk 

In the commercial and industrial 
areas, Ultragaz has also been an 
innovator with the introduction of 
its UltraSystem in 1995, a system of 
supplying LPG in bulk directly from 
the tanker truck to the tank installed 
on the customer’s premises. The 
process is totally personalized and 
automated, relying on advanced 
technological systems such as 
Megga-remote – a meter installed in 
the customer’s tank which informs 
Ultragaz’s main facility, by radio, of the 
level of gas in the tank, determining 
the best time for re-supply. 

The service is continuous, practical and 
safe and received acknowledgement 
from the British Standards Institute 
(BSI), with the BSI Benchmarking 
Latin America prize, and the Banas 

Ultragaz
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Prize for Quality, both for the level 
of automation in the monitoring of 
products and processes, applied to 
the business market in the Greater 
Metropolitan Area of São Paulo. 
Using UltraSystem technology, the 
company has introduced one more 
new service into the market, by making 
a special service available to residential 
condominiums, with individual billing 
for each customer. Known as Conta 
Única (individual bill), the service was 
awarded the Marketing Best prize in 
2005. Ultragaz’s services are based on 
technologies that prioritize the well-
being of the customer and which result 
in productivity gains for the company.

This positioning is what has led 
Ultragaz to be acknowledged as Brazil’s 
most credible brand in the kitchen 
gas segment (which also includes 
natural gas), as evidenced by winning 
seven consecutive Top of Mind awards. 
Ultragaz was also recognized for the 
second time as the company which 
most respects the customer, in a 
survey by TNS/Interscience for Modern 
Consumer magazine. A perception 
that gains more signifi cance due to 
the fact that it obtained twice as 
many points as its nearest runner-up.

Such recognition is based on company 
values such as respect, honesty and 
quality, verifi ed by the customer 
in commitments such as “precise 

weight”, the good appearance 
and maintenance of the bottles, 
or the pleasant standardization of 
its stores and dealer franchises. 

World class standard

Conceived by its Executive Board, 
starting in 1998, an initiative at that 
time called the Ultraclass Movement, 
promoted the strategic alignment 
of Ultragaz, defi ning its vision and 
mission of becoming the “Brazilian LPG 
standard”. Once this milestone was 
conquered with ease, a new challenge 
was proposed, called the “Frontierless” 
initiative, to try to constantly seek 
new technologies, and subsequently 
internationalizing these experiences 
in order to become a world class LPG 
standard. As a way of organizing 
these initiatives, a strategic map 
was drawn up using the Balanced 
Scorecard (BSC) methodology. 

These objectives are refl ected in the 
day-to-day running of the company. 
One example is its decentralized 
commercial management, which 
allows each regional manager the 
fl exibility to take the decisions 
necessary to best serve the specifi c 
needs of his customers, always 
supported by cost and return analysis 
systems. Thus, these professionals 
operate as they were the actual 
owners of the business, responsible 

Ultragaz
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for their results, making progress 
within the company based on their 
achievements in a transparent 
meritocratic human resources model.

In order to further improve these 
processes, Ultragaz is preparing to 
take part competing for the National 
Quality Prize awarded by the National 
Quality Foundation. The prize is one of 

the most coveted in Brazil, because it is 
only given to the companies considered 
to be world class. In preparation for 
this challenge, at the beginning of 
2006, the Capuava unit took part in 
the São Paulo Prize for Quality and 
Management, achieving third place in 
the medium-size company category. 

Ultragaz

EBITDA
R$ million

Ultragaz

EBITDA/ton
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In 2005 Oxiteno had to heavily depend 
on its main differentials in order 
to deal with the adverse economic 
scenario and increase its sales volume 
from 518,000 tons in 2004 to 525,000 
tons in 2005. This increase can be 
considered a signifi cant achievement 
in light of the combination of negative 
factors that infl uenced the economy 
and the sector during the year.

The high interest rates resulted in a 
weak performance in the Brazilian 
economy, reducing domestic demand 
in general. The appreciation of the 
Brazilian Real against the U.S. Dollar 
negatively impacted exports. The 
high price of oil and overstocking 
of the textile chain on the part 
of China, one of the world’s main 
buyers of mono-ethylene glycol 
(MEG), squeezed MEG margins in the 
middle of 2005. Consequently the 
company’s EBITDA did not escape 
unscathed, amounting to R$ 300 
million, 29% lower than that in 2004.

In light of this scenario, Oxiteno 
surpassed itself in increasing its 
market share in product lines with a 
higher added value, such as specialty 
chemicals, which confi rms the 
correctness of the strategy adopted 
long ago: of reducing exposure to 
commodities, which suffer more from 
international fl uctuations, as well 
as winning new customers in the 
domestic market in specifi c niches, 
taking advantage of the company’s 
substantial capacity in the area 
of research and development.

Even in international markets there 
were conquests made. The company 
celebrated its fi rst sale of ethoxylation 
technology (for the production of 
ethanolamides and ethoxylates) 
to a new petrochemical complex 
in Saudi Arabia and opened up 
prospects for a new catalyst market 
by exporting a Zinox 380 catalyzer for 
the fi rst time, used for the treatment 
of ethylene and natural gas, to 
Russia. The Brazilian product beat 
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competition from two rival companies 
– one German and one Russian. 

Oxiteno is taking a view on this 
segment and is investing in the 
expansion and modernization of 
its catalyst plant, in order to serve 
both domestic and international 
markets. The project is to increase 
catalyst manufacturing capacity 
from 200 tons a year to 500 tons 
a year, and regeneration from 80 
tons a year to 200 tons a year.

Flexibility and market knowledge

This capacity to achieve a good 
performance as well as making 
market conquests, even in an adverse 
scenario, can be attributed to the 
factors that enable Oxiteno stand 
out from its competitors in the 
petrochemical industry: in-depth 
knowledge of the market in which 
it operates and its strength in 
industrial and technological terms. 

In comparison with the world’s 
giants, Oxiteno stands apart for its 
great fl exibility, speed of reaction and 
adaptability, due to its lean, effi cient 
and effective structure, which allows 
for rapid decision-making at times 
when the markets are changing and 
vulnerable, such as they are today.

The company’s extensive market 
knowledge gives it the capacity to 
develop special applications, investing 
in market niches which require more 
technical knowledge, but which result 
in a higher added value. These are 
tailor-made operations, customized 
exactly to customer requirements.

This same knowledge allows 
the company to take a view on 
investments, as a way of overcoming 
diffi cult times and continuing to grow. 
Even faced with this unfavorable 
scenario, the company did not back 
off. Quite the contrary, it brought its 
investments and expansion projects 
forward, which should produce 
good returns in the near future.

Oxiteno is composed of four industrial 
units in Brazil and two abroad – at all 
of them, there are plans for expansion 
or the construction of new facilities. 
In 2005 alone, R$ 5.5 million was 
invested in a new alcoxilation unit 
at the Mauá plant to increase the 
production of specialty chemicals. 

Also in the State of São Paulo, the 
Tremembé unit completed 20 years 
of service in 2005, a period in which 
it has quadrupled its production. 
It mainly manufactures specialty 
chemicals, such as sulfated alcohols 

Oxiteno

Sales in Brazil: breakdown by 
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and sulfonated alkylbenzenes, 
brake fl uids, greasy esters, betaines 
and naphthalene sulfonates.

Oxiteno’s two international units are in 
Mexico: the most important of which 
being in Guadalajara, capital of the 
state of Jalisco, it has an esterifi cation 
plant and also produces ethoxilates 
and a great variety of propylene 
and ethylene oxide copolymers; the 
Coatzacoalcos plant, in the state of 
Veracruz, mainly produces ethoxilated 
tensoactives, having easy access 
to maritime, railroad and highway 
transport. The two factories have 
already benefi ted from technology 
transfer from the Brazilian units and 
have expanded the list of applications 
a number of their products.

Management focused on productivity

In industrial and technological terms, 
Oxiteno’s great trump card is its ability 
to obtain highly effi cient levels of 
production, based on the optimization 
of its resources and personnel. Proof 
of this is that Oxiteno has become a 
world benchmark in the changing of 
catalyzers, requiring a stoppage every 
three years, on average. The world’s 
major petrochemical companies, 
for example, take around 30 days to 
carry out such a change, while the 

last change performed in 2005 at 
the Camaçari unit took only eleven 
days, with the goal being to reduce 
this time to less than ten days for the 
next stoppage. The company’s safety 
interlocking accident prevention 
systems and house-keeping are also 
regarded as benchmarks in the market. 

Undoubtedly, the company’s 
technical-operational know-how 
constitutes an important differential 
and competitive advantage. This is 
due to, among other factors, the high 
technical qualifi cations of its staff. As 
part of its key values, the company 
includes the search for knowledge 
and productivity per employee.



In 2005, the company introduced its 
Six Sigma program, with all employees 
taking part. It is already showing 
signifi cant gains with a reduction in 
costs associated with expiring shelf-life, 
an increase in productivity, better 
control of overtime and other benefi ts.

Another example of the search for 
productivity can be seen at the Mauá 
unit, with the creation, at the end 
of 2005, of the Mauá Petrochemical 
Complex Company Association - Apolo. 
The ten companies installed there got 
together to share services common 
to all, thus reducing their end-costs. 
Among these services are the 
transport of employees, the provision 
of security guards, gardening services, 
restaurants, etc. The Apolo program 
is similar to the supply coordination 

program at the Camaçari Complex. 
Apolo is also active in the neighboring 
community, creating and participating 
in several social programs, following 
guidelines set by the Abiquim 
Social Responsibility Program.

Recognition is also apparent through 
the many awards received by the 
units in diverse areas of operation. 
Of particular note is the Camaçari 
Five Star award, granted to the 
company by the Complex for the 
second year running, for good care 
in the areas of health, safety and the 
environment; or the award for the 
best petrochemical company in Brazil 
and São Paulo, awarded by the Miguel 
Calmon Institute for Social Studies.

Oxiteno

EBITDA
R$ million

Oxiteno

EBITDA/ton
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One of Brazil’s largest service suppliers 
in logistics for chemical products 
and fuels, Ultracargo reported good 
results in 2005, and the outlook for 
2006 is even more positive due to 
investments made over the past 
two years. The result in 2005 was 
9% above that of the previous year. 
EBITDA amounted to R$ 44 million 
versus R$ 40 million in 2004. Storage 
volume increased by 8%, while the 
kilometrage traveled increased by 5%. 

Currently, the company operates 
seven storage operations in Brazil 
– Aratu and Camaçari, in Bahia; 
Paulínia, Santos and Tatuí in São 
Paulo; Montes Claros, in Minas 
Gerais; and Suape, in Pernambuco. 
In addition, Ultracargo has support 
locations in many Brazilian states, 
which allow it to offer integrated 
logistics solutions offering transport 
and storage facilities to customers 
in the chemical and fuel industries. 

The most recent support location, 
inaugurated at Araucária (PR) in 
October, 2005, is an initial stepping 
stone for other businesses in Paraná, 
as well as in the other states in the 
South of Brazil. The location, which 
may be used as a future base, provides 
support for serving bulk clients in the 
petrochemical sector. The delivery 
process for bulk customers reduces 
the risk of contamination of the raw 
material polyethylene. Transport 
is also undertaken by Ultracargo, 
in articulated tanker trucks, which 
handle some 2,500 tons a month, with 
the potential to reach 5,000 tons. 

In São Paulo, Ultracargo has begun 
the building of a new base, on an 
area of 98,000 square meters, at 
Mauá (SP), to be inaugurated in June, 
2006. The location is a key factor: it 
is near the path of future ring road 
(the orbital freeway around São 
Paulo’s Metropolitan Area, which will 





also connect the main highways in 
the area). This will mean increased 
productivity and the optimization 
of journey-times, saving time and 
reducing the risk of accidents.

There was also progress made at 
the Aratu and Camaçari bases. At 
Aratu, the company started building 
storage tanks to hold raw materials 
for the fatty-alcohol project. While 
at Camaçari, a new storage facility 
is being built for the storage of 
chemical products, integrated with 
FCA’s highway/railroad terminal.

At Suape, in the state of Pernambuco, 
Ultracargo’s progress can be seen, 
year after year, in the areas of 
storage and transport. In 2005, an 
important storage contract was 
signed. Ultracargo will be building 
and operating tanks, as well as a 
7km pipeline, to receive imported 
chemical products at the Port of Suape 
and transfer them to an industrial 
plant at the Suape Complex, whose 
start-up is scheduled for mid-2006.

Investments in expansion projects

Over the past two years, Ultracargo 
has invested over R$ 100 million in 
expanding its storage and transport 
capacity, of particular note being 
the construction of the new Santos 

Intermodal Terminal (TIS). There was 
also some renewal of its transport fl eet, 
as well as the start-up of operations at 
the Montes Claros Intermodal Terminal 
(TIM), in Minas Gerais, in addition to 
the Tatuí Terminal in São Paulo and 
the start of compressed natural gas 
operations, in the region of Avaré (SP).

The fi rst results of these investments 
were already refl ected in the accounts 
for 2005. TIM currently serves a 
number of oil product distribution 
companies, including Ipiranga, Esso 
and Petrobras, handling around 20,000 
m3 of fuel a month. The whole region 
has benefi ted, not only because of 
the reduction in fuel prices at the 
pump (the city and the surrounding 
region had the second most expensive 
fuel in the country), but also by the 
boost given to the economy, and as a 
consequence the creation of new jobs.

Another successful initiative in 
2005 was the compressed natural 
gas operation (CNG), a pioneer 
move carried out for Natural Gas 
SPS, the company responsible for 
the distribution of natural gas in 
the southeast of São Paulo state. 
Currently, the trucks carry 600,000 
m3 of CNG a month between the 
town of Cesário Lange, where there is 
a compression station, to industries 
located in towns where there is 
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still no natural gas distribution 
network, such as Avaré, where there 
is a gas decompression unit.

The CNG operation underlines 
values that are very important to 
Ultracargo – innovation, learning 
and productivity. The challenge to 
exploit a fi eld which no other logistic 
operator in the country had tried, paid 
off in terms of winning new markets 
and increasing the potential of its 
operations. Responsibility for the entire 
management of the operation – from 
the management of the compression 
base, the selection and operation 
of the decompression units, to the 
management of inventory levels, 24 
hours per day, seven days a week, 
on a just-in-time basis – confi rms 
Ultracargo’s aptitude for operating 
extensively in the supply chain.

As for TIS, a signifi cant strategic 
milestone in Ultracargo’s operations 
in the Southeast, due to its location 
in the region with the highest 
proportion of GDP in Brazil – which 
increases the growth potential of the 
company – should demonstrate its 
great potential beginning in 2006. 
Inaugurated in the third quarter of 
2005, the terminal will handle imports 
and exports of chemical products, and 
the export of ethanol and vegetable 
oils. It has 111,500 m3 of storage tanks. 

Of these, 38,000 m3 are for the storage 
of vegetable oils, 40,000 m3 for ethanol 
and 33,500 m3 for chemical products. 

For the ethanol sector, the port 
of Santos had a shortage of 
storage tanks so this will improve 
competitiveness, seeing that exports 
are proving benefi cial to Brazil. As 
for vegetable oils, the storage tanks 
at TIS are a new step, because up 
to now, many companies preferred 
to ship their production through 
other ports due to a lack of adequate 
installations at the port of Santos.

Management by competences

As a service company, Ultracargo’s 
employees are key to its operations. 
These are the people who make a 
difference at the moment of relating 
to the customer. Constant training 
and retraining ensure that its team 
is kept fully up to date with the 
latest developments in the industry. 



Ultrapar Annual Report   |  2005

Personalized individual career 
development plans enable the 
company to plan its future knowledge 
needs effi ciently. The projects for 
Management by Competences and 
the Individual Development Plan 
are both in the process of being 
introduced, which will improve 
the system for remuneration and 
professional development. 

These projects involve employees 
at every level and are central to 
the strategy of the business. The 
subjects covered range from technical 
training in information technology, 
safety, logistics and maintenance 
– to behavioral training involving 
interpersonal relationships, serving the 
customer, leadership, high performance 
team development and open dialogue.

Ultracargo

Effective storage 
’000 m3

Ultracargo

EBITDA
R$ million





Earnings review 

and outlook
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Earnings 

review

Net sales

In 2005 Ultrapar reported net sales 
of R$ 4.7 billion, 2% less than in 2004. 
Oxiteno accounted for R$ 1.6 billion of 
this total, down 3% on the previous 
year, in particular refl ecting the 17% 
appreciation in the Brazilian currency, 
given that a major portion of Oxiteno’s 
product prices are referenced to 
the international markets, though 
this was partially compensated for 
by specifi c market initiatives taken 
by Oxiteno which enabled the 
company to achieve a good sales 
performance in the domestic market. 

Net sales at Ultragaz amounted to 
R$ 2.9 billion, down 2% compared 
to the previous year. This drop was 
caused, mainly, by the 1% retraction 
in the Brazilian LPG market, which 
caused a similar reduction in the 
company’s sales volume. At Ultracargo 
an increase in operational volume 
boosted net sales to R$ 234 million in 
2005, up 19% on the previous year.

Costs of goods sold (COGS)

Ultrapar’s cost of goods and services 
(COGS) in 2005 showed an increase 
of 3% or R$ 114 million compared to 
the previous year. At Oxiteno, COGS 
increased by 8%, due mainly to the 
sharp increase in the cost of its main 
raw material, ethylene, due to the 
rise in oil prices. COGS at Ultragaz, 
however, remained stable compared 
to the previous year – with the higher 
costs of freight and fuel offsetting the 
decline in sales volume. At Ultracargo, 
COGS increased by 24%, mainly as 
a result of increased operations. 

Earnings Before Interest, 

Depreciation and 

Amortization (EBITDA)      

Ultrapar’s consolidated EBITDA 
amounted to R$ 546 million, down 
26% in comparison with the previous 
year. The main factors which affected 
the company’s performance were the 
weaker domestic economy, the 17% 
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appreciation in the Real against the 
U.S. Dollar, and the cost pressures due 
to the 42% increase in the average 
oil price. Oxiteno contributed to this 
result with EBITDA of R$ 300 million, 
down 29% on 2004, which refl ected 
the effect of the Real’s appreciation 
and the cost pressure due to rising 
raw material prices. Ultragaz ended 
the year with EBITDA of R$ 195 
million, down 27% on the fi gure of 
R$ 269 million reported in 2004. The 
1% retraction in the LPG market and 
the effect of the oil price increases 
on the company’s distribution costs 
were the main factors that hit 
performance during the year. EBITDA 
at Ultracargo amounted to R$ 44 
million, up 9% on the previous year, 
basically due to increased operations. 

Net earnings

Ultrapar’s net earnings in 2005 
amounted to R$ 299 million, down 
28% on the previous year, basically 
as a consequence of the drop in 
EBITDA. When compared to 2003, 
net earnings were up 22%.
 

Cash flow before financing

During 2005, cash fl ow from operating 
activities amounted to R$ 464 million, 
17% lower than in 2004. Despite 
the drop of 28% in net earnings, 
operating cash fl ow was boosted by 
reductions in working capital and 
increased fi nancial revenue due to 
the effect of Real appreciation on the 
company’s dollar-based liabilities. Cash 
spent on investment amounted to 
R$ 513 million, 58% more than in 2004. 
This increase was due basically to the 
placing of the funds raised from the 
debenture issue in long-term deposit 
accounts. Excluding the effect of 
these long-term investments, cash 
spent on investment amounted to 
R$ 219 million, 23% lower than in 
2004 as a result of lower levels of 
investment at Ultragaz and Ultracargo.

Dividends

Despite the drop in net earnings, the 
strong positive cash fl ow enabled 
Ultrapar to declare dividends of 
R$ 157 million for the fi scal year 2005, 
representing a dividend yield of 6%, 
taking the closing share price of 
R$ 32.50 on December 29, 2005.



Indebtedness

Ultrapar ended 2005 with a gross 
debt of R$ 1.432 billion, up R$ 881 
million on the previous year, with a 
net cash position of R$ 191 million. 
The increase in debt refl ected two 
important debt issues carried out 
during the year – R$ 300 million in 
debentures and a US$ 250 million 
bond issue in the international market.

The company’s debt structure is 
now 41% in local currency and 59% 
in foreign currency, the average debt 
term having increased from 1.4 years 
in 2004 to 4.9 years in 2005. As at 
December 31, 2005, the weighted 
average cost of debt in local currency 
was the equivalent to 85.9% of the 
CDI rate, while that of the foreign 
currency denominated debt amounted 
to 6.8% above exchange rate variation. 

Increases in oil cost...

Cash position
R$ million

...Real appreciation...

...Decreases in the international prices 

of petrochemical commodities...

Source: ICIS Pricing

Source: Brazilian Central Bank

...Weaker economy

Source: IBGE

Source: Bloomberg
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Capital 

markets

With shares listed on the São Paulo 
Stock Exchange (Bovespa) and the 
New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) 
Ultrapar was very active in capital 
markets in 2005. It carried out three 
major transactions, one in the equity 
market and two in the debt market. In 
both cases the good market reception 
was evidenced by the excess demand 
for the company’s securities.

In April, 2005, Ultrapar concluded a 
primary and secondary offering of 
preferred shares for a total amount 
of R$ 362 million, including an 
additional lot of shares (green shoe). 
The main aim of the offering was 
to increase the trading liquidity 
in Ultrapar’s shares, meeting the 
demands of the analyst and investor 
communities. The offer resulted in 
an increase of 51% in the company’s 
total free-fl oat, which rose from 
26% to 38% of the total capital, 
represented by 81.325 million 
shares at the closing of trading 
at the end of 2005. 

The equity offering increased the 
size and breadth of the company’s 
shareholder base, with 1,800 
new investors – including private 
individuals – and resulted a signifi cant 
improvement in the trading 
levels of the company’s shares. 

In the local debt market, Ultrapar 
carried out its fi rst issue of debentures, 
for a total of R$ 300 million for a 
three-year term, at an annual rate 
equivalent to 102.5% of the CDI rate. 
In December, the company accessed 
the international capital markets, with 
a US$ 250 million bond issue with a 
term of ten years, carrying interest 
of 7.25 % per year, the lowest interest 
rate for a ten-year bond ever obtained 
in the Brazilian corporate segment.

On a local scale as well as global 
scale, the international rating agency 
Standard & Poor’s attributed a 
credit rating above that of Brazilian 
sovereign debt for both Ultrapar 
and the securities issued: AA+ on 
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a local scale and BB+ on a global scale 
– based principally on the combination 
of favorable fundamentals in the 
company’s businesses, together 
with the solid fi nancial situation 
shown over many years. The credit 
rating on a global scale was only one 
notch below investment grade. 

As a result of its 10-year international 
bond issue, Ultrapar now has a 
structural long-term debt at a 
competitive cost, constituting an 
additional tool to facilitate investment 
in growth, also with regard to 
potential acquisitions abroad. 

Share performance 

During 2005 the shares of Ultrapar 
depreciated by 27% on Bovespa and 
19% on the NYSE. The average daily 
trading volume was 48% higher than 
in 2004 – taking into account trading 
on Bovespa and the NYSE – mainly as 
a result of the company’s efforts to 
increase the liquidity in its shares. 

This less than satisfactory 
performance was, however, 
sector-wide. All petrochemical 
companies suffered from the 
strong Real and the high oil price 
environment, among other factors. 
Even so, within the petrochemical 
sector, Ultrapar obtained an 
above-average performance.

Ultrapar declared dividends of 
R$ 157 million related to the fi scal year 
2005, representing a dividend yield 
of 6%, taking the closing share price 
of R$ 32.50 on December 29, 2005. 
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Investments 

and outlook

The reductions in the basic interest 
rate initiated at the end of 2005 
create expectations for a pick-up in 
the Brazilian economy in 2006, which 
should improve the operational 
performance of companies in the 
domestic market. This recovery has a 
potential to generate positive results 
in all the business segments of 
Ultrapar, which maintains its long-
term strategic vision, focused on the 
creation of value for its shareholders, 
as well as other stakeholders. 
Therefore, Ultrapar is continuing its 
investment policy, with an investment 
budget of R$ 388 million in 2006, 
mainly designated to expansion.

Ultrapar remains focused on fully 
serving the needs of the current 
market, while at the same time 
making the most of opportunities 
arising. The investments announced 
do not include funding for potential 
acquisitions, but Ultrapar remains 
alert to possible growth options 
as part of its internationalization, 
started in the last few years. 

Capacity expansion

The largest single investment for 
2006 is the building of a fatty-alcohol 
plant at Camaçari, with a production 
capacity of 100,000 tons a year, with 
start-up planned in 2007. It will be 
the fi rst in Latin America, and has an 
estimated market of 50,000 tons a year 
in Brazil. Used particularly in personal 
hygiene and domestic cleaning 
products, it will serve an important 
and expanding market segment. Brazil 
is the seventh-largest consumer of 
personal hygiene products, cosmetics 
and perfumes in the world, and the 
third-largest in hair care products. 
This market is growing at the rate 
of 9% a year – as the purchasing 
power of the population improves.

In addition, the plant at Mauá is also 
expanding its production capacity of 
specialty chemicals, with a forecast 
capital expenditure budget of R$ 30 
million, with additional investment in 
quality, safety and the environment, as 
well as in research and development, 
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which includes expansion to 
laboratories and the completion of 
the new Effl uent Treatment Station. 
Capacity expansion at the São Paulo 
Petrochemical Complex, where the 
Mauá plant is located, is planned for 
2008. Based on this this, Oxiteno has 
already renegotiated its contract with 
PQU, the fi rst generation operator 
in the complex and key provider 
of raw materials. PQU should be 
expanding its capacity from 750,000 
to 950,000 tons, and Oxiteno will 
be expanding its ethylene oxide 
production from the current 52,000 
tons per year to 90,000 tons per year.

Optimizing profitability, revising 

the distribution structure               

At Ultragaz, the strategy for 2006 is 
to concentrate efforts on increasing 
profi tability, which requires increasingly 
close and more effi cient management 
of costs and distribution structure. 
Investments of the order of R$ 90 
million are planned in order to continue 
quality and productivity improvement 
projects, including IT systems for 
support and optimization at the point 
of sale, with a review of the company’s 
distribution structure, in addition to 
expansion in its bulk operations. 

New terminals

In 2006, at Ultracargo, the start-up of 
operations at the Santos Intermodal 
Terminal and the expansion projects 
planned at existing terminals should 
improve the company’s competitive 
edge in providing integrated 
logistics services for special products, 
particularly at the major export ports.

Of the R$ 60 million capital 
expenditure budget, approximately 
R$ 20 million will be invested in 
tanks and pipelines for the logistics 
operation to import chemical 
products at the port of Suape.

R$ 10 million in investment is also 
budgeted for the installation of 
tanks for importation of palm 
oil – a raw material to be used at 
Oxiteno’s new fatty-alcohol plant.

Investments
R$ million

Capex - 2006E
R$ million
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Independent auditors’ report   

To the Stockholders and Management of Ultrapar Participações S.A.

São Paulo - SP

1. We have audited the accompanying individual (Company) and 
consolidated balance sheets of Ultrapar Participações S.A. and 
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related 
statements of income, changes in stockholders’ equity (Company), 
and changes in financial position for the years then ended, all 
expressed in Brazilian reais and prepared under the responsibility 
of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these financial statements.

2. Our audits were conducted in accordance with auditing 
standards in Brazil and comprised: (a) planning of the work, taking 
into consideration the significance of the balances, volume of 
transactions, and the accounting and internal control systems 
of the Companies; (b) checking, on a test basis, the evidence and 
records that support the amounts and accounting information 
disclosed; and (c) evaluating the significant accounting practices 
and estimates adopted by Companies’ management, as well as 
the presentation of the financial statements taken as a whole.

3. In our opinion, the financial statements referred to in paragraph 
1 present fairly, in all material respects, the individual and 

consolidated financial positions of Ultrapar Participações S.A. and 
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the results of 
their operations, the changes in stockholders’ equity (Company), 
and the changes in their financial positions for the years then 
ended in conformity with accounting practices adopted in Brazil.
 
4. Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an 
opinion on the financial statements referred to in paragraph 1 
taken as a whole. The individual and consolidated statements of 
cash flow are presented for purposes of additional analysis and 
are not a required part of the basic financial statements, prepared 
in conformity with accounting practices adopted in Brazil. Such 
information, prepared under the responsibility of the Companies’ 
management, has been subjected to the auditing procedures 
described in paragraph 2 and, in our opinion, is fairly presented in 
all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements 
taken as a whole.

5. The accompanying financial statements have been translated 
into English for the convenience of readers outside Brazil.

São Paulo, January 31, 2006

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU
Auditores Independentes

Altair Tadeu Rossato
Engagement Partner

(Convenience Translation into English from the Original Previously Issued in Portuguese)
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Ultrapar Participações S.A. and Subsidiaries   

Balance sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2004

(In thousands of Brazilian reais - R$)

     Company  Consolidated  
Assets 2005 2004 2005 2004  
Current assets     
Cash and banks   90  321  32,714  41,280   
Temporary cash investments   359,626  1,932  1,218,210  517,099  
Trade accounts receivable  -  -  343,328  369,302   
Inventories  -  -  191,749  210,350   
Recoverable taxes   8,984  921  62,931   72,999   
Deferred income and social contribution taxes  87  126  21,969  26,935  
Dividends receivable  73,302  88,242   -  -  
Other    422  21  8,608   12,788   
Prepaid expenses   536  -  8,793  5,538  
      443,047  91,563  1,888,302   1,256,291   
Long-term assets     
Long-term investments   -   -  372,692   38,754  
Related companies     14,409  57,094  3,706  3,136   
Deferred income and social contribution taxes   2,849  2,561  60,991   36,339   
Recoverable taxes   11,734  10,494  46,777   36,552   
Escrow deposits  -   -  22,532   14,103  
Trade accounts receivable  -  -  19,244   11,945   
Other   757  -  13,715  2,570   
      29,749  70,149  539,657   143,399   
Permanet assets     
Investments:     
Subsidiary and affiliated companies   2,153,873  1,944,742  4,182  5,944   
 Other   186  186  28,117   25,895   
 Property, plant and equipment  -  -  1,072,729   1,047,434   
Deferred charges  -  -  98,286   99,801   
      2,154,059  1,944,928  1,203,314   1,179,074   
Total   2,626,855  2,106,640  3,631,273   2,578,764   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

(Convenience Translation into English from the Original Previously Issued in Portuguese)



Ultrapar Participações S.A. and Subsidiaries   

Balance sheets as of December 31, 2005 and 2004

(In thousands of Brazilian reais - R$)

             Company              Consolidated        
Liabilities and stockholder’ equity 2005 2004 2005 2004   
Current liabilities       
Loans and financing   -   -  135,855   293,039  
Debentures     17,853   -  17,853   -  
Suppliers    280  163  90,938  102,052  
Salaries and related charges  41  456  66,066   94,137  
Taxes payable   7  6  11,332   11,833  
Dividends payable    100,108  71,851  103,854  74,700  
Income and social contribution taxes   -  -  638   2,978  
Deferred income and social contribution taxes   -  -  249   329  
Other    4   -   13,395   17,931  
      118,293  72,476  440,180   596,999  
Long-term liabilities      
Loans and financing  -   -  978,608   258,091  
Debentures    300,000  -   300,000   -  
Related companies  404,230  420,710  5,049   8,790  
Deferred income and social contribution taxes   -  -  24,120   31,796  
Other taxes   8,689  7,843  60,770   52,069  
Other   -   -  2,747   2,297  
      712,919  428,553  1,371,294   353,043  
Minority interest   -  -  29,634   28,220  
Stockholders’ equity          
Capital 946,034  663,952  946,034   663,952  
Capital reserve   2,046  1,855  329   142  
Revaluation reserve   14,955  16,371  14,955   16,371  
Profit reserves   837,502  929,068  837,502   929,068  
Treasury shares   (4,894) (5,635) (8,655)  (9,031) 
      1,795,643  1,605,611  1,790,165   1,600,502  
Total minority interest and stockholders’ equity  -   -  1,819,799   1,628,722  
Total  2,626,855  2,106,640  3,631,273   2,578,764  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

(Convenience Translation into English from the Original Previously Issued in Portuguese)
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              Company              Consolidated        
     2005 2004 2005 2004 
Gross sales and services  -   -  5,158,031  5,250,629   
Taxes on sales and services  -  -  (416,136)  (419,151)  
Rebates, discounts and returns  -   -  (48,047)  (47,229)      
Net sales and services  -  -  4,693,848   4,784,249  
Cost of sales and services  -   -  (3,783,420)  (3,669,907)  
Gross profit  -  -  910,428   1,114,342     
Equity in subsidiary and affiliated companies   298,510  418,052  1,557   25 
Operating (expenses) income     
 Selling  -  -  (187,609)  (193,739) 
 General and administrative   (18) (315)  (232,051)  (232,065) 
 Management compensation  (1,128) (601)  (5,763)  (5,442) 
 Depreciation and amortization  -  -   (126,344)  (124,737) 
 Other operating income, net   1,158  815   (331)  5,587  
Income from operations before financial items  298,522  417,951  359,887   563,971  
Financial income (expenses), net   3,570  2,027  (1,736)  (18,670) 
CPMF/IOF/other financial expenses   (1,233) (261)  (25,608)  (26,312) 
Income from operations 300,859  419,717  332,543   518,989  
Nonoperating expenses, net   -  (17)  (1,766)  (16,019)  
Income before taxes on income 300,859  419,700  330,777   502,970  
Income and social contribution taxes     
 Current   (1,930) (5,332) (113,083)  (174,996) 
 Deferred  249  111  20,547   (1,516)   
 Benefit of tax holidays   -   -  63,787   93,477  
       (1,681) (5,221) (28,749)  (83,035)  
Income before minority interest   299,178  414,479  302,028   419,935  
Minority interest  -   -   (2,850)  (5,456)  
Net income 299,178  414,479  299,178   414,479  
Earnings per share (based on annual weighted average) - R$, 
after reverse stock split - see note 14  3.73  5.95         

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Ultrapar Participações S.A. and Subsidiaries   

Statements of income for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

(In thousands of Brazilian reais - R$, except for earnings per share)

(Convenience Translation into English from the Original Previously Issued in Portuguese)



Ultrapar Participações S.A.   

Statements of changes in stockholders’ equity (Company) for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

(In thousands of Brazilian reais - R$, except for dividends amounts)

       Revaluation  
        reserve of  
       subsidiary              
      Capital and affiliated  Retention Realizable  Retained Treasury  
       Capital  reserve    companies   Legal of profits    profits    earnings  shares Total 
Balances at december 31, 2003  663,952  1,152  17,787  40,865  551,008  85,622  -   (97)  1,360,289 
Acquisition of treasury shares   -   -  -   -   -   -   -   (6,758)  (6,758) 
Sale of treasury shares  -  703   -  -   -   -   -   1,220   1,923  
Realization of revaluation reserve  -   -  (1,416)  -   -   -   1,416   -   -  
Income and social contribution taxes          
on realization of revaluation reserves            
of subsidiaries  -  -  -   -   -   -    (166)  -   (166) 
Realization of profit reserve   -   -   -    -  (85,622)  85,622   -  -   
Net income  -  -  -   -   -   -   414,479  -   414,479     
Appropriation of net income:          
 Legal reserve  -  -  -   20,724   -   -  (20,724)  -  -  
 Interim dividends (R$ 1.330000  
 per thousand common and   
 preferred shares)  -  -   -  -   -   -   (92,383)  -  (92,383) 
   Proposed dividends payable 
 (R$ 1.032683 per thousand common 
 and preferred shares)  -  -  -   -   -   -   (71,773)  -   (71,773) 
 Realizable profits reserve  -   -   -   -   -  118,343   (118,343)  -   -  
 Realizable for retention of profits  -   -   -   -    198,128   -   (198,128)  -   -  
Balances at december 31, 2004   663,952  1,855  16,371  61,589  749,136   118,343  -  (5,635)  1,605,611 
Capital increase:          
 Secondary public offering  47,218  -  -   -   -   -   -   -   47,218    
 Reserves  234,864  -  -   -  (234,864) -   -  -   -    
Sale of treasury shares  -  191   -  -   -  -   -   741   932  
Realization of revaluation reserve    -  -   (1,416)  -   -   -   1,416   -   -  
Income and social contribution taxes 
on realization of revaluation reserve 
of subsidiaries  -   -   -   -   -   -   (211)  -   (211) 
Realization of profit reserve  -   -  -   -   -   (89,199) 89,199   -  -    
Net income  -  -  -   -   -   -   299,178   -   299,178     
Appropriation of net income:          
 Legal reserve  -   -   -  14,959   -   -   (14,959)  -   -  
 Interim dividends (R$ 0.703817 per  - 
 common and preferred share - after
 reverse stock split - see Note 14)    -   -   -   -   -   -   (57,085)  -   (57,085) 
 Proposed dividends payable  
 (R$ 1.232498 per common 
 and preferred share)  -  -   -   -   -   -  (100,000)  -   (100,000) 
 Realizable profits reserve  -   -   -   -   -  74,224   (74,224)  -   -     
 Reserve for retention of profits  -   -   -  -  143,314   -   (143,314)  -   -  
Balances at december 31, 2005 946,034  2,046  14,955   76,548   657,586   103,368   -   (4,894)  1,795,643 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Profit reserves

(Convenience Translation into English from the Original Previously Issued in Portuguese)
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Ultrapar Participações S.A. and Subsidiaries   

Statements of changes in financial position for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

(In thousands of Brazilian reais - R$)

             Company              Consolidated         
    2005 2004 2005 2004 
Sources of funds     
From operations:     
 Net income   299,178  414,479  299,178   414,479  
 Items not affecting working capital:     
  Equity in subsidiary and affiliated companies   (298,510) (418,052) (1,557)  (25) 
  Depreciation and amortization  -   -  187,691   172,691  
     Credits of PIS and COFINS (taxes on revenue) on depreciation   -  -   1,437   2,936      
  Long-term interest and monetary variations   846  657   (44,037)   22,617       
  Deferred income and social contribution taxes  (288)  15  (32,328)  28,122  
  Minority interest    -  -  2,850   5,456 
     Net book value of permanent assets written off   -  174  16,595   24,063 
  Other long-term taxes   -  58  5,254   7,992      
  Reversal of provision for probable losses on permanent assets   -   (3)  (20)  (1,268) 
    Other   -  -  741   407  
     1,226  (2,672) 435,804   677,470       
From stockholders:     
  Capital increase due to secondary public offering  47,218   -   47,218   -  
  Disposal of treasury shares  932   1,923   -   -  
     48,150  1,923  47,218   -        
From third parties:      
  Increase in long-term liabilities  -   -   -   32  
  Decrease in long-term assets  40,688   -   -   -  
  Proposed dividends and interest on capital (gross)  89,168 163,626 - - 
  Long-term loans and financing  300,000  -   1,164,876   293,037  
      429,856     163,626    1,164,876     293,069  
Total sources  479,232   162,877   1,647,898   970,539  
Uses of funds     
Permanent assets:     
  Property, plant and equipment  -   -  179,449   227,163  
    Deferred charges  -   -  51,270   48,305  
      -   -   230,719   275,468  
Dividends and interest on capital  157,085  164,156   158,677   165,243  
Transfer from long-term to current liabilities  -   -  134,199   354,562        
Decrease in long-term liabilities  16,480  968  3,817   -      
Increase in long-term assets -   15,977  331,425   86,392         
Acquisition of treasury shares  -  6,758   -   6,758   
Acquisition of shares from minority stockholders  -   -   20   8,520  
Taxes on realization of revaluation reserve  -   -   211   166     
     16,480  23,703   469,672   456,398   
Total uses  173,565   187,859   859,068  897,109  
Increase (decrease) in working capital  305,667  (24,982)  788,830   73,430   
Represented by
Current assets:     
  At end of year  443,047  91,563  1,888,302   1,256,291        
  At beginning of year  91,563  83,654   1,256,291  1,162,967        
     351,484  7,909  632,011   93,324        
Current liabilities:     
  At end of year  118,293  72,476  440,180   596,999   
  At beginning of year  72,476  39,585   596,999   577,105   
     45,817   32,891   (156,819)  19,894  
Increase (decrease) in working capital 305,667  (24,982) 788,830   73,430   
     

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

(Convenience Translation into English from the Original Previously Issued in Portuguese)



Ultrapar Participações S.A. and Subsidiaries   

Supplementary statement of cash flow - indirect method for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

(In thousands of Brazilian reais - R$)
(Prepared in accordance with Accounting Standards and Procedures (NPC) Nº 20 issued by IBRACON - Brazilian Institute of Independent Auditors)

             Company              Consolidated         
    2005 2004 2005 2004 
Cash flows from operating activities     
Net income  299,178   414,479   299,178   414,479  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities:    
  Equity in losses of affiliated companies   (298,510) (418,052) (1,557)  (25) 
  Depreciation and amortization  -   -  187,691   172,691  
     PIS and COFINS credit on depreciation   -  -   1,437   2,936      
  Foreign exchange and indexation gains (losses)    47,208    (1)    15,538     20,607       
  Deferred income and social contribution taxes   (249)   (111)   (27,442)   1,516   
  Minority interest    -  -  2,850   5,456 
     Loss on disposals of permanent assets   -   20    4,591    17,228  
  Reversal of provision for probable losses on permanent assets   -   (3)   (20)    (1,268)      
  Other   -    -    530   36  
Dividends receivable from subsidiaries  104,108   118,478   -   -     
(Increase) decrease in current assets:     
  Trade accounts receivable  -   -    25,974     (46,979)  
  Inventories  -   -   18,601     (72,642)  
  Recoverable taxes   (8,063)  12,380   10,068   42,513  
  Other   (401)   3,607     4,180     17,711   
  Prepaid expenses   (536)      -      (3,255)     (2,703)  
Increase (decrease) in current liabilities:     
  Suppliers   117     112    (11,114)    11,771   
    Salaries and related charges   (415)    44   (28,071)    19,396  
  Taxes  1    (28)    (501)    (937)  
  Income and social contribution taxes  -    (60)   (2,340)    (3,603) 
  Other   4    -    (4,536)    (7,188)      
(Increase) decrease in long-term assets:     
  Recoverable taxes   (1,240)   (10,494)   (10,225)    (36,552)   
  Escrow deposits  -    -    (8,429)    (4,199)  
  Trade accounts receivable  -   -    (7,299)    (3,049)     
  Other   (757)   -    (11,145)    (551)        
Increase (decrease) in long-term liabilities:     
  Taxes  846    670    8,701     11,170   
  Other   -    -     450     892    
Net cash provided by operating activities  141,291    121,042   463,855     558,707   
Cash flows from investing activities   
Long-term investments, net of redeem  -   -    (294,597)    (41,730)  
Additions to property, plant and equipment  -   -     (179,449)     (227,163)     
Additions to deferred charges  -    -    (51,270)    (48,305)        
Proceeds from sales of property, plant and equipment  -    155     12,004     6,835  
Acquisition of minority interests  -   -    (20)    (8,520)     
Acquisition of treasury shares  -   (6,758)   -     (6,758)     
Sale of treasury shares   932    1,923    -     -         
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  932    (4,680)  (513,332)    (325,641)  
Cash flows from financing activities           
Loans, financing and debeutures:          
  Issuances   300,000    -    1,484,531     669,728      
  Repayments   (29,355)  -    (655,500)    (765,146)        
Dividends paid   (128,828)     (131,334)      (129,523)      (132,279)  
Related companies   26,205     (6,406)    (4,704)    (1,080)     
Capital increase due to secondary public offering   47,218    -    47,218     -       
Net cash provided by financing activities    215,240      (137,740)    742,022      (228,777)         
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  357,463   (21,378)   692,545   4,289     
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year   2,253    23,631    558,379     554,090    
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year   359,716    2,253     1,250,924     558,379  
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information       
Interest, net of amounts capitalized   29,355    -    57,261     25,319        
Income and social contribution taxes paid in the year   -    -    26,429     49,579    

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

(Convenience Translation into English from the Original Previously Issued in Portuguese)
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1. Operations

Ultrapar Participações S.A. (the “Company”) invests in commercial 
and industrial activities, including subscription or purchase of 
shares of other companies with similar activities.

Through its subsidiaries, the Company is engaged in the 
distribution of liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) (Ultragaz), 
production and sale of chemicals (Oxiteno), and logistic services 
for chemicals and fuels (Ultracargo).

2. Presentation of financial statements and 

significant accounting practices

The accounting practices adopted to record transactions and 
prepare the financial statements are those established by 
accounting practices adopted in Brazil and the Brazilian Securities 
Commission (CVM).

a) Results of operations
Determined on the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues from 
sales and respective costs are recognized when the products 
are delivered to the customers or services are performed, and 
the transfer of risks, rights and obligations associated with the 
ownership of products takes place.

b) Current and long-term assets
Temporary cash and long-term investments are stated at cost, 
plus accrued income (on a “pro rata temporis” basis), which 
approximate to the market value. Temporary cash investments 
include the results from hedges, as described in Notes 4 and 19, 
that management intends to hold to maturity.

The allowance for doubtful accounts is based on estimated 
losses and is considered by management to be sufficient to cover 
potential losses on accounts receivable.

Inventories are stated at the lower of average cost of acquisition 
or production, market or net realizable value.

Other assets are stated at the lower of cost or probable realizable 
values, including, when applicable, accrued income and monetary 
variations or net of allowances for potential losses.

c) Permanent assets
• Investments
Significant investments in subsidiary and affiliated companies are 
recorded under the equity method, as shown in Note 10.

Other investments are stated at acquisition cost, less an 
allowance for losses, should the loss not be considered temporary.

• Property, plant and equipment
Stated at cost of acquisition, process or construction, and include 
revaluation write-ups based on appraisal reports issued by 
independent appraisers, in accordance with item 68, letter b), of 
CVM Resolution Nº. 183/95.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis at the annual 
rates described in Note 11, based on the economic useful lives of 
the assets.

• Deferred charges
Deferred charges comprise costs incurred in the installation of 
equipment at customers’ facilities, projects to modernize systems, 
and goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries, as mentioned in 
Note 12.

d) Current and long-term liabilities
Stated at known or estimated amounts including, when 
applicable, accrued charges, monetary and exchange variations 
incurred during the year.

e) Income and social contribution taxes
The income and social contribution taxes, current and deferred 
(according to CVM Resolution Nº. 273/98) are measured on the 
basis of effective rates and include the benefit of tax holidays.

Ultrapar Participações S.A. and Subsidiaries

Notes to the financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004

(In thousands of Brazilian reais - R$, unless otherwise stated)

(Convenience Translation into English from the Original Previously Issued in Portuguese)



Ownership interest % 
    2005  2004 
   Direct Indirect Direct Indirect 
Ultragaz Participações Ltda 100 - 100 - 
 Companhia Ultragaz S.A.  - 99 - 94 
 SPGás Distribuidora de Gás Ltda  - 99 - 94 
 Bahiana Distribuidora de Gás Ltda. - 100 - 100 
 Utingás Armazenadora S.A. - 56 - 56 
 LPG International Inc. - 100 - 100 
Ultracargo – Operações Logísticas e Participações Ltda. 100 - 100 - 
 Melamina Ultra S.A. Indústria Química - 99 - 99 
 Transultra – Armazenamento e Transporte Especializado Ltda. - 100 - 100 
 Terminal Químico de Aratu S.A. – Tequimar - 99 - 99 
Oxiteno S.A. – Indústria e Comércio 100 - 100 - 
 Oxiteno Nordeste S.A. – Indústria e Comércio - 99 - 99 
 Oleoquímica Indústria e Comércio de Produtos Químicos Ltda. - 100 - 100 
 Barrington S.L. - 100 - 100 
  Canamex Químicos S.A. de C.V. - 100  - 100 
  Oxiteno International Co. - 100 - 100 
  Oxiteno Overseas Co. - 100 - 100 
Imaven Imóveis e Agropecuária Ltda. 100 - 100 - 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the basic consolidation principles established 
by accounting practices adopted in Brazil and by the Brazilian 

Securities Commission (CVM), and include the following direct 
and indirect subsidiaries:

3. Consolidation principles

f) Basis for translation of the financial statements of
 foreign subsidiaries
The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated 
into Brazilian reais at the current exchange rate in effect at 
the balance sheet date. The criteria for preparation of the 
financial statements have been adapted to conform to Brazilian 
accounting practices.

g) Reclassification
The balance of income tax benefits as of December 31, 2004 
has been reclassified from equity in subsidiary and affiliated 

companies to the heading income and social contribution taxes 
in the statements of income for a better year-on-year comparison, 
in accordance with CVM/SNC/SEP Circular Nº. 01, of February 25, 
2005 as stated in Note 9.b).

h) Cash flow statements
The Company is presenting the statements of cash flow as 
supplementary information, prepared in accordance with 
Accounting Standards and Procedures Nº. 20 (NPC) issued by 
IBRACON - Brazilian Institute of Independent Auditors.

Upon consolidation, intercompany investments, accounts, 
transactions and profits were eliminated. Minority interest in 
subsidiaries is presented separately in the financial statements.

On December 29, 2004, the Company acquired, through its 
subsidiary Ultragaz Participações Ltda., 14,336,014 common 
shares in Companhia Ultragaz S.A., corresponding to 7.31% of 
total capital. This acquisition amounted to R$ 10,000, with 

goodwill of R$ 1,813, based on the acquired company’s expected 
future profitability, to be amortized over five years beginning 
January 2005.

On April 29, 2005, Ultragaz Participações Ltda. conducted a capital 
increase in its subsidiary Companhia Ultragaz S.A., increasing its 
ownership interest from 93.94% to 98.53%.
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    2005 2004 
Domestic customers   367,499 373,761 
Foreign customers   60,943  91,467 
(-) Advances on foreign exchange contracts   (38,971)  (55,455) 
(-) Allowance for doubtful accounts   (26,899)  (28,526) 
    362,572  381,247  
Current portion    343,328  369,302               
Long-term portion     19,244  11,945        

(a) Investments made by the indirect subsidiaries Oxiteno Overseas Co., Oxiteno International Co. and Canamex Químicos S.A. de C.V. in fixed-income securities, Brazilian corporate 
securities, and low risk investment grade securities.
(b) Accumulated gain or loss on hedge positions (see Note 19).

     Company  Consolidated 
    2005 2004 2005 2004 
Austrian notes, indexed in Brazilian reais  - - 344,603  - 
Fixed-income securities and funds  359,626  1,932 571,817 536,326 
Foreign investments (a)  - - 722,565 108,093 
Net expenses on hedge operations (b)   - - (48,083) (88,566) 
Total  359,626  1,932  1,590,902  555,853 
Current portion   359,626  1,932  1,218,210  517,099     
Long-term portion  -  - 372,692  38,754 

5. Trade accounts receivable (consolidated)

6. Inventories (consolidated)

These investments, contracted with leading banks, are 
substantially composed of securities, notes issued by the Austrian 
Government, and fixed-income funds, all linked to the interbank 
deposit rate (CDI) and currency hedges, and are stated at cost plus 
accrued income on a “pro rata temporis” basis. As of December 31, 

2005, funds in the amount of R$ 585,910, raised through 
notes issued by the subsidiary LPG International Inc., were 
invested in U.S. dollar in certificates of deposit issued by leading 
foreign banks 

4. Temporary cash and long-term investments

      2005   2004 
     Provision   Provision  
    Cost  for losses  Net Cost  for losses  Net 
Finished products   103,316  (1,750)  101,566  118,186  (2,677)  115,509    
Work in process   1,109  - 1,109  402 - 402  
Raw materials  43,294  (89)  43,205  49,483  (126)  49,357   
Liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) 23,113  - 23,113  22,983  - 22,983  
Supplies and cylinders for resale   18,213   (924)  17,289   17,838  (48)  17,790        
Advances to suppliers - mainly LPG    5,467    -  5,467    4,309   -  4,309  
    194,512     (2,763)   191,749     213,201    (2,851)  210,350        



            Financial
     Loans   Loans  Trade accounts   Transactions  income
    Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities Receivable Payable Sale Purchases (expenses) 
Ultracargo – Operações Logísticas e
Participações Ltda. - 348,105 - - - - - - - 
Transultra - Armazenamento e Transporte  
Especializado Ltda. 164 - - - - - - - -  
Oxiteno S.A. - Indústria e Comércio  1,355  - - - - - - - - 
Oxiteno Nordeste S.A. - Indústria e Comércio   -  33,000  - - - - - - - 
Ultragaz Participações Ltda.  9,951   -  - - - - - - - 
Companhia Ultragaz S.A.    2,939    -  - - - - - - - 
Imaven Imóveis e Agropecuária Ltda.     -    22,658  - - - - - - - 
Melamina Ultra S.A. Indústria Química      -    467  - - - - - - - 
Química da Bahia Indústria e Comércio S.A.  -  - - 3,921  - - - - (30) 
Serma Associação dos Usuários de 
Equipamentos de Processamentos de 
Dados e Serviços Correlatos    -  -  3,687  - - - - - - 
Petroquímica União S.A.   -   -  - - - 5,110  - 128,869  - 
Oxicap Indústria de Gases Ltda.     -    -  - - - 718 - 8,260  - 
Liquigás Distribuidora S.A.   -    -  - - 132 - 2,868  - - 
Petróleo Brasileiro S.A. - Petrobras       -    -  - - 2,100  -  22  2,015,541  - 
Copagaz Distribuidora de Gás Ltda.   -   -  - - 48 -  680 -  - 
Braskem S.A.     -    -  - - - 20,936  78,496  624,950   - 
SHV Gás Brasil Ltda.    -    -  - - 20 - 197  - - 
Plenogás - Distribuidora de Gás S.A.        -    - - 871 -  -  -  -  - 
Other   -    -  19 257 35 - 428   -  - 
Total as of December 31, 2005      14,409     404,230   3,706  5,049  2,335   26,764  82,691  2,777,620   (30) 
Total as of December 31, 2004           51,545     420,710  3,136  8,790  1,518   41,811   98,301   2,805,938   (524) 

ConsolidatedCompany

8. Related companies

     Company  Consolidated 
    2005 2004 2005 2004 
Income and social contribution taxes  20,655 11,334  68,022 57,173 
ICMS - - 70,908  74,305 
Provision for losses - ICMS (*)   - - (35,959)  (33,722) 
PIS and COFINS  22 40 3,018  7,324 
IPI    - -  146 150 
VAT of subsidiary Canamex Químicos S.A. de C.V  - -  3,505  3,691  
Other 41 41 68  630  
Total 20,718 11,415  109,708   109,551  
Current portion  8,984  921  62,931    72,999  
Long-term portion    11,734   10,494   46,777 36,552   

(*) The provision refers to credit balances that the subsidiaries estimate they will not be able to offset in the future.

Represented substantially by credit balances of ICMS (state VAT), 
IPI (federal VAT), PIS and COFINS (taxes on revenue), and prepaid 

income and social contribution taxes, all of which can be offset 
against future taxes payable.

7. Recoverable taxes
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a) Deferred income and social contribution taxes
The Company and its subsidiaries recognize tax assets and 
liabilities, which do not expire, arising from tax loss carryforwards, 
temporary add-backs, revaluation of property, plant and 
equipment, and other procedures. The tax credits are based 

on continuing profitability from operations. Management expects 
to realize these tax credits over a maximum period of three years. 
Deferred income and social contribution taxes  are  presented  in  
the  following  principal categories:

9. Income and social contribution taxes

      Company  Consolidated 
     2005 2004 2005 2004 
Assets:        
 Deferred income and social contribution taxes on:     
  Provision for loss of assets   - - 22,783  21,629 
  Provision for contingencies   2,849  2,561 17,131  15,409 
  Other provisions  87  126 18,765  14,133  
  Income and social contribution tax loss carryforwards  -  - 24,281   12,103 
Total   2,936   2,687  82,960   63,274  
Current portion   87   126  21,969    26,935  
Long-term portion    2,849   2,561  60,991    36,339 
Liabilities:    
 Deferred income and social contribution taxes on:     
  Revaluation of property, plant and equipment    - - 1,245   1,645 
  Income earned abroad   -  - 23,124   30,480 
Total   -   -  24,369    32,125  
Current portion  -   -  249    329  
Long-term portion    -   -  24,120      31,796  

The loan balance with Química da Bahia Indústria e Comércio 
S.A. is adjusted based on the Brazilian long-term interest rate 
(TJLP). Other loans are not subject to financial charges. Purchase 
and sale transactions refer substantially to purchases of raw 
materials, other materials and transportation and storage 
services, carried out at market prices and conditions.

The loan agreement with Ultracargo - Operações Logísticas e 
Participações Ltda. results substantially from the sale of shares 
issued by Oxiteno S.A. - Indústria e Comércio to the Company, 
so as to avoid cross shareholding resulting from a corporate 
restructuring conducted in 2002.



The benefit of tax holidays of subsidiaries in the amount of 
R$ 63,787 in 2005 (R$ 93,477 in 2004), derived from operations in 

regions entitled to incentive, are classified as income and social 
contribution taxes in the statements of income.

     Exemption Expiration 
Subsidiary Plants - % date 
Oxiteno Nordeste S.A. – Indústria e Comércio Camaçari plant  100 2006 
Bahiana Distribuidora de Gás Ltda. Mataripe unit  75 2013 
    Suape unit  100 2007 
    Ilhéus unit  25 2008 
    Aracaju unit  25 2008 
    Caucaia unit  75 2012 
Terminal Químico de Aratu S.A. – Tequimar Aratu Terminal   75 2012 
    Suape Terminal    
    (storage of acetic  
    acid and butadiene
    byproducts) (*) 100 2005 

(*) In December 2005, this base’s exemption expired and a request was filed with ADENE (Northeast Development Agency), the agency in charge of managing this incentive 
program, seeking a 75% income tax reduction until 2015, still pending approval by ADENE. Should the request not be approved, this base’s income tax reduction will be 25% until 
2008 and 12.5% from 2009 until 2013.

c) Tax exemption
The following indirect subsidiaries have partial or total 
exemption from income tax in connection with a government 

program for the development of the Northeast Region of Brazil:

b) Conciliation of income and social contribution taxes in the 
statements of income
Income and social contribution taxes are reconciled to official 
tax rates as follows:

      Company  Consolidated 
     2005 2004 2005 2004 
Income before taxes, equity in subsidiary and affiliated companies and minority interest    2,349   1,648  329,220   502,945  
Official tax rates - %     34   34  34   34  
Income and social contribution taxes at official rates   (799)   (560)  (111,935)   (171,001)  
Adjustments to the effective tax rate:  
 Operating provisions and nondeductible expenses/nontaxable income    25   196  17,878     (5,239)  
 Adjustments to estimated income     -   (1,457)   1,115     (290) 
 Interest on capital received    (918)    (3,400)  -    -  
 Workers’ meal program (PAT)  -   -  466      616 
Other     11   -  (60)     (598) 
Income and social contribution taxes before benefit of tax holidays     (1,681)     (5,221)   (92,536)     (176,512)  
Benefit of tax holidays - ADENE     -   -  63,787       93,477 
Income and social contribution taxes in the statements of income      (1,681)    (5,221)   (28,749)        (83,035) 
Current    (1,930)      (5,332)    (113,083)     (174,996)  
Deferred   249    111   20,547     (1,516)  
Benefit of tax holidays - ADENE      -    -  63,787         93,477 
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10. Investments

a) Subsidiaries of the Company

    2005 
  Ultracargo  
  – Operações Imaven  
 Ultragaz Logísticas e Imóveis e Oxiteno S.A. 
 Participações Participações Agropecuária – Indústria e 
 Ltda. (i)  Ltda. (i)  Ltda. (i) Comércio (i) 
Number of shares or quotas held  4,336,062 2,461,346 27,733,974 35,102,127 
Net equity adjusted for unrealized profit between subsidiaries - R$   280,733  597,239  46,072  1,229,829 
Net income for the year - R$ 13,407  9,054  4,791  271,258 

           2005 2004 
     Ultracargo 
     – Operações Imaven  
    Ultragaz Logísticas e Imóveis e Oxiteno S.A.  
    Participações Participações Agropecuária – Indústria e 
    Ltda. (i)  Ltda. (i)  Ltda. (i) Comércio (i)  Subtotal Other Total Total 
Changes in investments:          
 Balance at beginning of year  272,249  602,864  46,556  1,023,073  1,944,742  186  1,944,928  1,690,839 
 Reversal of provision (provision) 
 for losses  - - - - - -  -  3 
 Write-off  - - - - - - - (174) 
 Income taxes on revaluation 
 reserves in subsidiaries  (211) - - - (211) - (211) (166) 
 Dividends and interest
 on capital  (4,712)  (14,679)  (5,275)  (64,502) (89,168) -  (89,168)  (163,626) 
 Equity pick-up   13,407  9,054  4,791  271,258 298,510  -  298,510  418,052 
 Balance at end of year  280,733 597,239  46,072  1,229,829  2,153,873  186  2,154,059  1,944,928 

  2005 
 Química da Bahia 
 Indústria e Oxicap Indústria de 
 Comércio S.A. (ii) Gases Ltda. (ii) 
Number of shares or quotas held  1,493,120  156 
Net equity - R$ 5,528  5,669 
Net income for the year - R$  (367) 389 
Ownership interest - %  50  25 

b) Affiliated companies (consolidated)

     2005  2004 
   Química da  Bahia 
   Indústria e Oxicap Indústria 
   Comércio S.A. (ii) de Gases Ltda. (ii) Total Total 
Changes in investments:     
 Balance at beginning of year   4,610  1,334 5,944  5,721  
 Capital increase   -  - -  206  
 Equity pick-up   1,473  84 1,557  188  
   Write-off   - -   - (171) 
   Stock redemption received  (3,319)         - (3,319)  - 
   Balance at end of year   2,764  1,418 4,182  5,944     

(i) Financial statements audited or reviewed by our independent auditors.
(ii) Financial statements audited by other independent auditors.



 Annual    2005 2004 
 depreciation Revalued Accumulated Allowance Net book Net book 
 rates - %  cost  depreciation  for realization   value value 
Land - 48,147 -  -  48,147 46,290 
Buildings 4 to 5 431,574 (151,883) -  279,691 243,635 
Machinery and equipment  5 to 10 1,140,665 (562,545) (412) 577,708 528,938 
Vehicles 20 to 30 167,760 (119,633) -  48,127 45,419 
Furniture and fixtures  10 22,101 (8,440) -  13,661 11,603 
Construction in progress  - 29,254 -  -  29,254 94,971 
Imports in transit  - 763 -  -  763 1,933 
Other 2,5 to 30    147,834 (71,825)   (631)      75,378      74,645 
 - 1,988,098 914,326 1,043  1,072,729 1,047,434 
 

11. Property, plant and equipment (consolidated)

Construction in progress refers substantially to improvements of 
subsidiaries’ plants. 

Buildings include R$ 61,514 (R$ 23,138 in 2004) of improvement in 
third-party properties that are being amortized on a straight-line 
basis at 4% per year.

Other refers to computer equipment in the amount of R$ 14,963 
(R$ 17,242 in 2004), software in the amount of R$ 24,368 
(R$ 27,740 in 2004), and commercial property rights, mainly those
described below:

• On July 11, 2002, the subsidiary Terminal Químico de Aratu S.A. 
– Tequimar won a bid for use of the site where the Aratu Terminal 
is located for another 20 years, renewable for the same period. 
The price paid by Tequimar amounted to R$ 12,000 and is being 
amortized from August 2002 to July 2042.

• Further, the subsidiary Terminal Químico de Aratu S.A. - Tequimar 
has a lease agreement for an area adjacent to the Port of Santos 
for 20 years, effective December 2002 and renewable for another 
20 years, for building and operating a terminal for receiving, 
tankage, handling and distribution of bulk liquids. The price paid 
by Tequimar was R$ 3,803 and is being amortized from August 
2005 until December 2022.

12. Deferred charges (consolidated)

Represented substantially by costs incurred in the implementation 
of systems modernization projects in the amount of R$ 8,654 
(R$ 2,052 in 2004), amortized over five to ten years, and for costs 
associated with the installation of Ultrasystem equipment at 
customers’ facilities in the amount of R$ 60,300 (R$ 55,954 in 
2004), amortized over the terms of the LPG supply contracts with 
these customers. Deferred charges also include the goodwill from 
acquisitions and expenses on studies and projects.

In the consolidated financial statements, the investment of 
subsidiary Oxiteno S.A. - Indústria e Comércio in the affiliated 
company Oxicap Indústria de Gases Ltda. is carried under the 
equity method based on the affiliate’s financial statements as 
of November 30, 2005 and the investment of subsidiary Oxiteno 

Nordeste S.A. - Indústria e Comércio in the affiliated company 
Química da Bahia Indústria e Comércio S.A. is carried under 
equity method based on the affiliate’s financial statements as of 
December 31, 2005.
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13. Loans, financing and debentures (consolidated)

a) Composition

    2005 2004 
2006 - 109,338   
2007 93,958 57,304    
2008 515,458 36,920    
2009 74,954 54,529    
2010 9,064 -     
Thereafter    585,174            -   
    1,278,608 258,091    

The long-term portion matures as follows:

        
       Annual   
      Index interest   Maturity and 
Description 2005 2004 Currency rate 2005 - %   amortization 
Foreign currency:     
   Syndicated loan  140,639  -  US$  5.05  Semiannually until 2008 
   Notes (b)  586,471  -  US$  7.25  Semiannually until 2015 
   Notes (b)  -  151,473  US$  3.5  Semiannually until 2005 
   Working capital loan      Monthly until   
    443  481  MX$ + TIIE (i)  1.0  January 2006 
   Foreign financing  28,542  32,197  US$ + LIBOR  2.0  Semiannually until 2009 
   Inventories and property, plant 
 and equipment financing  10,957  8,829  MX$ + TIIE (i)  From 1.5 to 2.0  Semiannually until 2010 
   Advances on foreign exchange contracts  9,771  3,268 US$  From 3.90 to 4.88  Maximum of 57 days 
 National Bank for Economic and  
 Social Development (BNDES)  22,330  20,763  UMBNDES(ii)   From 8.76 to 10.91  Monthly until 2010  
 National Bank for Economic and      Beginning  
 Social Development (BNDES)     November 2006,  
    261  -  US$  10.96  monthly until 2010  
 Export prepayments,       
 net of linked operations  44,852  129,798  US$  From 4.22 to 6.85  Semiannually until 2008  
Subtotal    844,266  346,809     
Local currency:
  National Bank for Economic and  
 Social Development (BNDES)  173,055  130,239  TJLP (iii)  From 1.5 to 4.85  Monthly until 2010  
 National Bank for Economic and   
 Social Development (BNDES) 11,244  15,549  IGP-M (iv)  6.5  Semiannually until 2008  
 Government Agency for Machinery and 
 Equipment Financing (FINAME)  47,676  34,163  TJLP (iii)  From 1.8 to 4.85  Monthly until 2010  
 Research and projects financing (FINEP)  38,059  24,370  TJLP (iii)  (2.0)  Monthly until 2009  
 Debentures (c)  317,853  -  CDI (v)  102.5  Semiannually until 2008  
 Other           163              -      
Subtotal     588,050  204,321      
Total financing and debentures  1,432,316  551,130      
Current liabilities    (153,708) (293,039)     
Long-term liabilities 1,278,608  258,091        

(i) MX$ = Mexican peso; TIIE = Mexican break-even interbank interest rate.
(ii) UMBNDES = BNDES monetary unit. This is a “basket” of currencies representing the composition of the BNDES debt in foreign currency, 88%, of which is linked to the U.S. dollar.
(iii) TJLP = fixed by the CMN (National Monetary Council); TJLP is the basic cost of BNDES financing.
(iv) IGP-M = General Price of Market Index, a measure of Brazilian inflation calculated by the Getúlio Vargas Foundation.
(v) CDI = Interbank deposit rate



b)  Notes
In June 1997, the subsidiary Companhia Ultragaz S.A. issued 
US$ 60 million in notes, maturing in 2005. In June 2005, maturity 
was extended to June 2020, with put/call options in June 2008.

In January 2004, the subsidiary LPG International Inc. issued 
US$ 60 million in notes to acquire the notes of Companhia 
Ultragaz S.A. In June 2005, the subsidiary LPG International Inc., 
which held all notes issued by Companhia Ultragaz S.A., sold 
them to the subsidiary Oxiteno Overseas Corporation, which 
financed their acquisition through a syndicated loan in the 
amount of US$ 60 million maturing in June 2008, with annual 
interest rate of 5.05%. The loan was guaranteed by the Company 
and Oxiteno S.A. - Indústria e Comércio, which, among others, 
assumed commitment of maintaining the financial index 
determined by the ratio between net debt and consolidated 
EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and 
Amortization) lesser or equal to 3.5, and the ratio between 
consolidated EBITDA and consolidated net financial expenses 
greater than or equal to 1.5. The subsidiary LPG International Inc. 
used the proceeds from the sale of notes of Companhia Ultragaz 
S.A. to redeem notes issued by it.

In December 2005, the subsidiary LPG International Inc. issued 
notes in the amount of US$ 250 million, maturing in December 
2015, with annual interest rate of 7.25% paid semiannually, with 
the first payment scheduled for June 2006. The issue price was 
98.75% of the notes’ face value, which represented a total yield 
for investors of 7.429% per year upon issuance. The notes were 
guaranteed by the Company and by Oxiteno S.A. - Indústria e 
Comércio.

As a result of the issuance of notes and the loan, the Company 
and its subsidiaries mentioned above are subject to covenants 
that limit, among other things, their ability to incur indebtedness 
and establish liens on assets, engage in mergers and acquisitions, 
conduct transactions with securities issued by it, and conduct 
transactions with affiliated companies. The restrictions imposed 
on the Company and its subsidiaries are usual in operations of 
this nature and have not limited their ability to conduct their 
business to date.

c) Debentures
On February 2, 2005, the Extraordinary Stockholders’ Meeting 
approved the issuance by the Company and the public 
distribution in a single series of 30,000 nonconvertible 
debentures with nominal unit value of R$ 10,000.00 (ten 
thousand Brazilian reais), totaling R$ 300,000.

On March 30, 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors, as 
delegated by the Extraordinary Stockholders’ Meeting, approved 
the interest rate determined through a bookbuilding process on 
the same date.

On April 6, 2005, the Brazilian Securities Commission (CVM) 
registered the operation, and funds of R$ 304,854, net of 
commission, were received on April 8, 2005.

Characteristics of the debentures are:
     
Nominal unit value:  R$ 10,000.00    
Final maturity:  March 1, 2008     
Nominal value payment:  Lump sum at final maturity     
Yield:  102.5% of CDI     
Yield payment:  Semiannually, beginning March 1, 2005     
Repricing:  None     

The debentures are subject to commitments that restrict, 
among other things, certain operations of merger or spin-off, as 
well as the disposal of operating assets that would result in a 
reduction of more than 25% of consolidated net sales. They also 
included the obligation to maintain a consolidated net debt to 
EBITDA ratio less than or equal to 3.5. Thus far, none of these 
commitments have restricted the ability of Company and its 
subsidiaries to conduct business.
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d) Collateral
A portion of the financing is collateralized by liens on property, 
plant and equipment, shares, promissory notes and guarantees 
provided by the Company and its subsidiaries, as shown below:

Other loans are collateralized by guarantees issued by the 
Company and by the future flow of exports. The Company is 
responsible for sureties and guarantees offered on behalf of its 
subsidiaries, amounting to R$ 1,017,858 (R$ 533,126 in 2004).

Certain subsidiaries have issued guarantees to financial 
institutions related to amounts owed to those institutions by 

some of their customers (vendor financing). In the event any 
subsidiary is required to make a payment under the guarantees, 
the subsidiary may recover such amounts paid directly from its 
customers through commercial collection. Maximum future 
payments related to these guarantees amount to R$ 33,208 
(R$ 45,230 in 2004), with terms of up to 210 days. As of December 
31, 2005, the Company and its subsidiaries have not incurred any 
loss nor recorded any liability related to these guarantees.

Certain subsidiaries have conducted operations denominated 
“supplier finance ” with its suppliers. In the operation, the banks 
advance to suppliers the proceeds from sales made to the 
subsidiaries, through acceptance by the subsidiaries with the 
banks. Those operations have an average term of nine days and 
are recorded as bank loans, since the suppliers received the funds 
from the banks, using the subsidiaries’ credit. The amount as of 
December 31, 2005 totalized R$ 161. Financial income related to 
this operation for the year ended December 31, 2005 amounted 
to R$ 18.

        Total shares  
Events  Capital Common Preferred Total  
As of December 31, 2004   663,952 51,264,621,778 18,426,647,050 69,691,268,828 
Stock dividends:    
On February 2, 2005, the Board of Directors approved an issuance 
of 10,453,690,324 preferred shares, to be distributed among the
stockholders in the proportion of 15 preferred shares to 100 common 
or preferred shares held   234,864 - 10,453,690,324 10,453,690,324    
Conversion of common shares into preferred shares:    
At the Extraordinary Stockholders’ Meeting held on February 22, 2005, 
the stockholders approved the conversion of 1,834,724,517
common shares into preferred shares   - (1,834,724,517) 1,834,724,517 -  
Supplementary issuance of preferred shares:    
On April 25, 2005, the Board of Directors approved an issuance of 
1,180,450,697 preferred shares to supply the excess of demand in the 
primary and secondary distribution of preferred shares, held simultaneously
in Brazil and abroad, with a price of R$ 40.00 per thousand shares   47,218 - 1,180,450,697 1,180,450,697  
As of June 30, 2005   946,034 49,429,897,261 31,895,512,588 81,325,409,849   
Reverse stock split:
The Extraordinary Stockholders’ Meeting held on July 20, 2005 approved the 
reverse stock split, attributing 1 (one) share in substitution for every 1,000 
existing shares. Likewise, each American Depositary Share - ADS, previously
representative of 1,000 preferred shares, became  representative of 1 (one) 
preferred share  - 49,429,897 31,895,512 81,325,409   
As of December 31, 2005   946,034 49,429,897 31,895,512 81,325,409  

    2005 2004 
Amount of financing secured by:   
 Property, plant and equipment  53,734 39,007 
 Shares of affiliated companies and      
 minority stockholders’ guarantees 11,244 15,549 
    64,978 54,556 

14. Stockholders’ equity

a) Capital
The Company is a listed corporation with shares traded on the 
São Paulo and New York Stock Exchanges. Subscribed and paid-up 
capital is represented by 81,325,409 shares without par value, 

comprised of 49,429,897 common and 31,895,512 preferred shares.
The table below represents changes in shares and capital 
occurred in 2005:



As of December 31, 2005, 9,902,405 preferred shares were 
outstanding abroad, in the form of American Depositary Receipts 
- ADRs.

Preferred shares are not convertible into common shares, do 
not entail voting rights, and have priority in capital redemption, 
without premium, in the event of liquidation of the Company.

Until May 18, 2004, preferred shares entitled their holders 
to dividends at least 10% higher than those attributable to 
common shares. On that date, the Special Meeting of Preferred 
Stockholders and the Extraordinary Stockholders’ Meeting of the 
Company approved equalizing the dividends of common and 
preferred shares.

At the beginning of 2000, the Company granted, through a 
stockholders agreement, tag-along rights, which assure to 
minority stockholders identical conditions to those negotiated by 
the controlling shareholders in case of disposal of shareholding 
control of the Company. The tag-along rights guarantee 100% of 
the offer amount for all types of shares of the Company. On May 
18, 2004, the Company included the tag-along rights in its bylaws.

The Company is authorized to increase its capital, regardless of 
amendment to the bylaws, through a resolution of the Board 
of Directors, until it reaches R$ 1,500,000 (one billion and five 
hundred million reais), by means of issuance of common or 
preferred shares, without keeping the existing ratio, observed the 
limit of 2/3 of preferred shares to the total shares issued.

b) Treasury shares
The Company acquired its own shares at market price, without 
capital reduction, for holding in treasury and subsequent disposal 
or cancellation, in accordance with the provisions of Brazilian 
Securities Commission (CVM) Instructions Nº. 10, of February 14, 
1980, and Nº. 268, of November 13, 1997.

As of December 31, 2005, the Company’s financial statements 
record 182,697 preferred shares and 6,617 common shares in 
treasury, which were acquired at the average cost of R$ 26.09 

and R$ 19.30 per share, respectively. The consolidated financial 
statements record 377,847 preferred shares and 6,617 common 
shares in treasury, which were acquired at the average cost of R$ 
24.35 and R$ 19.30 per share, respectively. The average acquisition 
cost, Company and consolidated, was adjusted to reflect the stock 
grant and reverse stock split, according to the table above.

The market price of preferred shares issued by the Company as of 
December 31, 2005 on the São Paulo Stock Exchange (BOVESPA) 
was R$ 32.50.

c) Capital reserve 
The capital reserve in the amount of R$ 2,046 reflects the 
goodwill on the disposal of shares to be held in treasury in the 
Company’s subsidiaries, at the average price of R$ 33.21 per share. 
Executives of these subsidiaries were given the usufruct of such 
shares, as described in Note 21.

d) Revaluation reserve
This reserve reflects the revaluation write-up of assets of 
subsidiaries and is realized based upon depreciation, write-off or 
disposal of revalued assets, including the related tax effects.

In some cases, taxes on the revaluation reserve of certain 
subsidiaries are recognized only upon the realization of this 
reserve, since the revaluations occurred prior to the publication 
of CVM Resolution Nº. 183/95. Taxes on these reserves are R$ 7,288 
(R$ 7,769 in 2004).

e) Retention of profits reserve
This reserve is supported by the investment program, in 
conformity with article 196 of Brazilian corporate law, and 
includes both a portion of net income and the realization of the 
revaluation reserve.

f) Realizable profits reserve
This reserve is established in conformity with article 197 of 
Brazilian corporate law, based on the equity in subsidiary and 
affiliated companies. Realization of the reserve usually occurs 
upon receipt of dividends, disposal and write-off of investments.
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g) Dividends and appropriation of net income
According to the Company’s bylaws, the stockholders are entitled 
to a minimum annual dividend of 50% of adjusted net income, 
calculated according to the terms of accounting practices 
adopted in Brazil.

Proposed dividends as stated in the Company’s financial 
statements, subject to approval at the Annual Stockholders’ 
Meeting, are as follows: 

h) Conciliation of stockholders’ equity - Company and consolidated

    2005 2004 
Stockholders’ equity - Company  1,795,643  1,605,611  
Treasury shares held by subsidiaries, net of realization  (3,761) (3,396) 
Capital reserve arising from sale of treasury shares to subsidiaries, net of realization       (1,717)      (1,713) 
Stockholders’ equity - consolidated  1,790,165 1,600,502    

    2005 
Net income  299,178 
Legal reserve  (14,959) 
Retention of profits reserve  (142,109) 
Realization of realizable profits reserve  89,199 
Dividends balance  231,309 
Realizable profits reserve  (74,224) 
Interim dividends (R$ 0.703817 per common and preferred share – after reverse stock split - see Note 14.a)  (57,085) 
Proposed dividends payable (R$ 1.232498 per common and preferred share)  (100,000) 

15. Nonoperating expenses, net (consolidated)

Refers principally to the result on the disposal of permanent 
assets, especially cylinders, as well as the write-off, in 2004, of the 
investment in the affiliate Extracta Moléculas Naturais S.A. in the 
amount of R$ 1,560.

16. Conciliation of EBITDA (consolidated) 

     2005 2004 
 Ultragaz Oxiteno Ultracargo Other Consolidated Consolidated    
Operating income  36,036 279,967  12,893 3,647  332,543  518,989  
(-) Equity in subsidiary and affiliated companies  - (5,797) - 4,240  (1,557) (25)  
(+/-) Financial income (expense)  41,730 (16,281) 4,286 (2,391) 27,344  44,982  
(+) Depreciation and amortization  117,318   42,362  27,139    872  187,691  172,691  
EBITDA 195,084 300,251  44,318 6,368  546,021  736,637  

The Company has three reportable segments: gas, chemicals and 
logistics. The gas segment distributes LPG to retail, commercial 
and industrial consumers mainly in the South, Southeast and 
Northeast Regions of Brazil. The chemicals segment primarily 
produces ethylene oxide, ethylene glycols, ethanolamines and 
etherglycols. Operations in the logistics segment include storage 

and transportation, mainly in the Southeast and Northeast 
Regions of Brazil. Reportable segments are strategic business 
units that offer different products and services. Intersegment 
sales are transacted at prices approximating those that the 
selling entity is able to obtain with third parties.

17. Segment information

EBITDA (Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and 
Amortization) is calculated by the Company, as shown below:



19. Risks and financial instruments (consolidated)

The main risk factors to which the Company and its subsidiaries 
are exposed reflect strategic/operating and economic/financial 
aspects. Strategic/operating risks (such as behavior of demand, 
competition, technological innovation, and significant structural 
changes in industry, among others) are addressed by the 
Company’s management model. Economic/financial risks 
mainly reflect customer default, macroeconomic variables such 
as exchange and interest rates, as well as the characteristics of 
the financial instruments used by the Company. These risks are 
managed through control policies, specific strategies and the 
determination of limits, as follows:

• Customer default - These risks are managed by specific policies 
for accepting customers and analyzing credit, and are mitigated 
by diversification of sales. As of December 31, 2005, the 

subsidiaries Oxiteno S.A. - Indústria e Comércio and Oxiteno 
Nordeste S.A. - Indústria e Comércio maintained R$ 848 (R$ 2,077 
in 2004) and the subsidiaries of Ultragaz Participações Ltda. 
maintained R$ 25,191 (R$ 23,062 in 2004) as an allowance for 
doubtful accounts.

• Interest rates - The Company and its subsidiaries adopt 
conservative policies to obtain and invest funds and to minimize 
the cost of capital. Temporary cash investments of the Company 
and its subsidiaries are comprised substantially of transactions 
linked to the interbank deposit rate (CDI), as described in Note 4. 
A portion of the financial assets is intended for foreign currency 
hedges, as mentioned below. Borrowings originate from the 
BNDES, and foreign currency financing, as mentioned in Note 13.

     2005 2004 
 Ultragaz Oxiteno Ultracargo Other Consolidated Consolidated    
Net sales, net of related-party transactions   2,901,692 1,609,866 182,204 86 4,693,848 4,784,249  
Income from operations before financial income
(expenses) and equity in subsidiary and 
affiliated companies  77,766 257,889 17,179 5,496 358,330 563,946  
EBITDA 195,084 300,251 44,318 6,368 546,021 736,637  
Total assets, net of related parties  929,444 1,987,644 317,678 396,507 3,631,273 2,578,764  

The principal financial information about each of the Company’s reportable segments is as follows:

  2005 2004 
Financial income:      
 Interest on temporary cash investments and long-term investments  128,845  72,164     
 Interest on trade accounts receivable  5,125  4,863    
 Monetary and exchange variation income  (17,809) (10,399)   
 Other income      2,489      2,270    
  118,650    68,898    
Financial expenses:     
 Interest on loans and financing  (42,869) (45,224)   
 Interest on debentures  (41,436) -   
 Bank charges  (17,125) (12,161)   
 Monetary and exchange variations expenses  32,343  25,737   
 Financial results from currency hedge transactions  (48,801) (52,570)   
 CPMF/IOF/other financial expenses  (25,608) (26,312)  
 Other expenses     (2,498)    (3,350)   
  (145,994) (113,880)   

18. Financial income and expenses, net (consolidated)
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   2005 2004 
Assets:  
 Investments abroad and hedges  126,236 266,619   
 Foreign cash and cash equivalents  3,129 884  
 Foreign temporary cash and long-term investments  722,565 108,093  
 Receivables from foreign customers, net of advances on exchange contracts    21,949   35,002  
   873,879 410,598  
Liabilities:  
 Foreign currency financing  844,266 346,809  
 Import payables    16,054   12,294  
   860,320 359,103  
Net asset position    13,559   51,495  

The exchange rate variation related to cash and banks, temporary 
cash investment, long-term investments and investments of 
foreign subsidiaries was recorded as financial expense in the 

consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 
31, 2005, in the amount of R$ 9,434 (financial expense of R$ 10,995 
in 2004).

• Exchange rate - The Company’s subsidiaries use hedge (mainly 
US$ to CDI) instruments available in the financial market to 
cover assets and liabilities in foreign currency, so as to reduce 
the exchange variation effects on their results. Such hedges 

have amounts, periods and indexes equivalent to the assets and 
liabilities in foreign currency to which they are linked. Shown 
below are the assets and liabilities in foreign currency, translated 
into Brazilian reais at December 31, 2005 and 2004:

        2005  2004 
       Book Market Book Market  
       value value value value  
Financial assets:       
   Cash and banks   32,714 32,714 41,280 41,280   
   Temporary cash investments    1,218,210 1,215,638 517,099 526,093 
   Long-term investments       372,692 372,692 38,754 38,754 
       1,623,616 1,621,044 597,133 606,127 
Financial liabilities:       
   Current and long-term loans    1,114,463 1,113,665 551,130 552,126 
   Current and long-term debentures      317,853  318,495            -            - 
       1,432,316 1,432,160 551,130 552,126 
Investment:       
   Investment in affiliated company         18,694 23,703   18,694 32,611 

The market value of financial instruments was obtained through 
the commonly used marking to market methodology, which 
consists of carrying the balances of the instruments until the 
maturity at the respective contracted rates, discounting them 

to present value at market rates as of December 31, 2005 and 
2004. The market value of investment in affiliated company is 
based on the share price trading on the São Paulo Stock Exchange 
(BOVESPA) on December 31, 2005 and 2004.

. Market value of financial instruments
Market value of financial instruments as of December 31, 2005 
and 2004 are as follow:



20. Contingencies and commitments (consolidated)

a) Labor, civil and tax lawsuits
The Petrochemical Industry Labor Union, of which the employees 
of Oxiteno Nordeste S.A. - Indústria e Comércio are members, filed 
an action against the subsidiary in 1990, demanding compliance 
with the adjustments established in a collective labor agreement, 
in lieu of the salary policies effectively followed. At the same 
time, the employers’ association proposed a collective bargaining 
for the interpretation and clarification of the fourth clause of 
the agreement. Based on the opinion of its legal counsel, who 
analyzed the last decision of the Federal Supreme Court (STF) on 
the collective bargaining, as well as the status of the individual 
lawsuit of the subsidiary, management believes that a reserve is 
not necessary as of December 31, 2005.

The subsidiaries Companhia Ultragaz S.A. and SPGás Distribuidora 
de Gás Ltda. are parties to an administrative proceeding at the 
SDE (Economic Law Department), linked to CADE (Administrative 
Council for Economic Defense), under the allegation of 
anticompetitive practice in the municipalities of a region of the 
State of Minas Gerais in 2001. In September 2005, the SDE issued 
a technical notice recommending to CADE a ruling against the 
companies involved in this proceeding. In their defense, the 
subsidiaries’ arguments, among others, are that: (i) under the 
terms of the notice issued by the Company’s chief executive 
officer on July 4, 2000, the subsidiaries’ employees were forbidden 
to discuss with third parties matters related to prices; and (ii) no 
consistent evidence was attached to the proceeding’s records, 
and the SDE acknowledges its failure in the attempt to prove 
the practice. In view of the arguments presented, the fact that 
the technical notice has no binding effect on CADE’s decision, 
and their legal counsel’s opinion, the subsidiaries did not record 
a provision for this issue. Should CADE’s decision be unfavorable, 
the subsidiaries can still discuss the issue at the judicial level.

The subsidiary Companhia Ultragaz S.A. is a defendant in lawsuits 
relating to damages caused by an explosion in 1996 in a shopping 
mall in the city of Osasco, State of São Paulo. Such lawsuits 
involve: (i) individual suits filed by victims of the explosion 
claiming damages from Ultragaz for the loss of economic benefit 
and for pain and suffering; (ii) lawsuit for reimbursement of 
expenses by the administration company of the shopping mall 
and its insurance company; and (iii) class action suit seeking 
indemnification for property damage and pain and suffering for 
all the victims injured and deceased. The subsidiary believes that 
it has presented evidence that defective gas pipes in the shopping 
mall caused the accident and that Ultragaz’s on-site LPG storage 
facilities did not contribute to the explosion. Of the 54 lawsuits 
judged thus far, a favorable judgment was obtained for 53, with 1 
unfavorable decision, which is still subject to appeal, and whose 
amount, should the decision be upheld, is R$ 17. The subsidiary 
has insurance for this contingency, and the uninsured contingent 

amount is R$ 39,633. The Company has not recorded any provision 
for this amount, since it believes the probability of loss is remote.

The Company and its subsidiaries obtained injunctions to 
pay PIS and COFINS (taxes on revenues) without the changes 
introduced by Law No. 9,718/98 in its original version. The ongoing 
questioning refers to the levy of these taxes on sources other 
than revenues. The unpaid amounts were recorded in the financial 
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries, totaling R$ 
36,966 (R$ 33,699 in 2004). Recently the Federal Supreme Court 
(STF) has decided the matter favorable to the taxpayer. Although 
it is a precedent, the effect of this decision does not automatically 
apply to all companies, since they have to await judgment of their 
own lawsuits. In addition to the accrued amount, the Company 
has subsidiaries that have been unsuccessful in obtaining an 
injunction and, accordingly, have been paying the taxes. Thus, 
should there be final favorable outcomes for the subsidiaries in 
all lawsuits, the Company estimates that the total effect on result 
before income and social contribution taxes should reach R$ 
56,540, net of attorney’s fees.

The subsidiary Oxiteno S.A. - Indústria e Comércio and its 
subsidiary Oxiteno Nordeste S.A. - Indústria e Comércio accrued 
R$ 14,532 (R$ 7,346 in 2004) for ICMS tax assessments being 
judged at lower-level and appeal-level administrative courts. The 
subsidiaries are currently awaiting a decision on the appeals.

The subsidiary Utingás Armazenadora S.A. has been challenging 
in court an ISS tax assessments issued by the municipal 
government of Santo André. Legal counsel of the subsidiary 
classifies the risk as low, since a significant portion of the 
lower-court decisions was favorable to the subsidiary. The thesis 
defended by the subsidiary is supported by the opinion of a 
renowned tax specialist. The unprovisioned updated amount of 
the contingency as of December 31, 2005 is R$ 29,995 (R$ 25,405 
in 2004).

On October 7, 2005, the subsidiaries of Ultragaz Participações 
Ltda. filed for and obtained an injunction to support the offset 
of PIS and COFINS credits against other federal taxes, notably 
income and social contribution taxes. According to the injunction 
obtained, the subsidiaries have been making escrow deposits for 
these debits and recognizing the corresponding liability for this 
purpose.

The Company and its subsidiaries have other ongoing 
administrative and judicial proceedings; legal counsel classified 
the risks on these proceedings as possible and/or remote and, 
therefore, no reserves for potential losses on these proceedings 
have been recorded.
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Escrow deposits and provisions are summarized below:

                        2005                                  2004                 
       Escrow  Escrow  
       deposits  Provision deposits  Provision 
Income and social contribution taxes on net income     6,148 9,272 - 2,910 
Labor claims    11,780 - 9,904 2,016 
PIS and COFINS on other revenues    58 36,966 58 33,699 
ICMS   804 14,532 538 9,435 
Other     3,742           -   3,603   4,009 
       22,532 60,770 14,103 52,069 

b) Contracts
The subsidiary Terminal Químico de Aratu S.A. - Tequimar has 
contracts with CODEBA - Companhia Docas do Estado da Bahia 
and Complexo Industrial Portuário Governador Eraldo Gueiros, 
in connection with their port facilities in Aratu and Suape, 
respectively. Such contracts establish minimum cargo movement 
of 1,000,000 tons per year for Aratu, effective through 2022, and 
250,000 tons per year for Suape, effective through 2027. If annual 
movement is less than the minimum required, the subsidiary is 
required to pay the difference between the actual movement 
and the minimum contractual movement, using the port rates 
in effect at the date established for payment. As of December 31, 
2005, such rates were R$ 3.67 and R$ 3.44 per ton for Aratu and 
Suape, respectively. The subsidiary has met the minimum cargo 
movement limits since inception of the contracts.

The subsidiary Oxiteno Nordeste S.A. - Indústria e Comércio has 
a supply contract with Braskem S.A., effective through 2012, 
which establishes a minimum consumption level of ethylene 
per year. The minimum purchase commitment and the actual 
demand for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2004, 
expressed in tons of ethylene, are summarized below. Should 
the minimum purchase commitment not be met, the subsidiary 
would be liable for a fine of 40% of the current ethylene price for 
the quantity not purchased.

c) Insurance coverage for subsidiaries
The Company has appropriate insurance policies to cover various 
risks, including loss and damage from fire, lightning, explosion of 
any nature, windstorm, plane crash and electrical damage, among 
others, protecting the units and other branches of all subsidiaries. 
The estimated amount of insured assets is US$ 240 million.

For the units of Oxiteno S.A. - Indústria e Comércio, Oxiteno 
Nordeste S.A. – Indústria e Comércio and Canamex Químicos S.A. 
de C.V., there is also loss of income insurance against losses from 
potential accidents related to their assets, in the amount of 
US$ 128 million.

A civil liability insurance program covers all the Group companies, 
with coverage of US$ 150 million, for losses and damage from 
accidents caused to third parties, related to the commercial/
industrial operations and/or distribution and sale of products 
and services.

Group life insurance, personal accident insurance, health 
insurance, and domestic and international transportation 
insurance are also contracted.

  2005 2004 
In tons  137,900 192,190 192,439 

Minimum
purchase

commitment
Actual demand



21. Stock compensation plan (consolidated)

The Extraordinary Stockholders’ Meeting held on November 26, 
2003 approved a compensation plan for management of the 
Company and its subsidiaries, which provides for: (i) the initial 
grant of usufruct of shares issued by the Company and held 
in treasury by the subsidiaries in which the beneficiaries are 
employed; and (ii) the transfer of the beneficial ownership of 
the shares after ten years from the initial grant, provided that 
the professional relationship between the beneficiary and the 
Company and its subsidiaries is not interrupted. The total amount 
granted to executives until December 31, 2005, including taxes, 
was R$ 8,940 (R$ 7,654 in 2004). This amount is being amortized 
over a period of ten years and the amortization related to the 
year ended December 31, 2005, in the amount of R$ 776 (R$ 567 in 
2004), was recorded as an operating expense for the period.

22. Employee benefits and private pension plan 

(consolidated)

The Company and its subsidiaries offer benefits to their 
employees, such as life insurance, health care and pension plan. 
In addition, loans for the acquisition of vehicles and personal 
computers are available to employees of certain subsidiaries. 
These benefits are recorded on the accrual basis and terminate at 
the end of the employment relationship.

In August 2001, the Company and its subsidiaries began to 
provide a defined contribution pension plan to their employees. 
This plan is managed by Ultraprev - Associação de Previdência 
Complementar. Under the terms of the plan, the basic 
contribution of each participating employee is defined annually 
by the participant between 0% and 11% of his/her salary. The 
sponsoring companies provide a matching contribution in an 
identical amount as the basic contribution. As participants 
retire, they may opt to receive monthly: (i) a percentage varying 
between 0.5% and 1.0% of the fund accumulated in their name 
in Ultraprev; or (ii) a fixed-monthly amount that will deplete the 
fund accumulated in the participant’s name in a period of 5 to 
25 years. Accordingly, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries 
assume responsibility for guaranteeing the levels of amounts or 
periods of receipt of the retirement benefit. In 2005, the Company 
and its subsidiaries contributed R$ 2,982 (R$ 3,991 in 2004) to 
Ultraprev, which was charged to income for the year. The total 
number of participating employees as of December 31, 2005 was 
5,975, with no participants retired to date. Additionally, Ultraprev 
has 1 active participant and 31 former employees receiving defined 
benefits according to the policies of a previous plan.
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